# **DNA Repair in Plants**

Seisuke Kimura<sup>†</sup> and Kengo Sakaguchi\*

Department of Applied Biological Science, Faculty of Science and Technology, Tokyo University of Science, 2641 Yamazaki, Noda-shi, Chiba 278-8510, Japan

Received March 14, 2005

# Contents

| 1.  | Introduction  | 753 |
|-----|---|-----|
| 2.  | Genome Projects and Plant DNA Repair                                    | 754 |
| 2   | 2.1. Species Used for the Study of DNA Repair in Higher Plants          | 754 |
| 2   | 2.2. Plant DNA Repair Genes Identified by<br>Genomics                   | 757 |
| 3.  | DNA Repair Pathways in Higher Plants                                    | 757 |
| 3   | 3.1. Photoreactivation  | 757 |
| 3   | 3.2. Nucleotide Excision Repair (NER)                                   | 758 |
| 3   | 3.3. Base Excision Repair (BER)   | 759 |
| 3   | 3.4. Mismatch Repair (MMR)  | 759 |
| 3   | 3.5. Double-Strand Break Repair (DSB Repair)                            | 760 |
| 3   | 3.6. Trans Lesion Synthesis (TLS)                                       | 761 |
| 3   | 3.7. Interstrand Cross-link Repair (ICL Repair)                         | 762 |
| 4.  | DNA Repair Genes Specific to Plants                                     | 762 |
| 5.  | DNA Repair in Organelles  | 762 |
| 5   | 5.1. DNA Repair and Replication in Chloroplasts                         | 762 |
| 5   | 5.2. DNA Repair and Replication in Mitochondria                         | 763 |
| 6.  | Relationship between DNA Repair and Cell<br>Proliferation               | 763 |
| 7.  | Application of Studies of DNA Repair to Breeding of UV Resistant Plants | 764 |
| 8.  | Concluding Remarks  | 764 |
| 9.  | Acknowledgments   | 764 |
| 10. | References  | 764 |

# 1. Introduction

Plants are affected by various environmental stresses which they cannot avoid by moving. DNA in plants is continuously damaged by the ultraviolet (UV) irradiation in sunlight (Figure 1). Green plants obtain energy through photosynthesis and cannot survive without light. Plants generally have a higher tolerance for UV than animals due to the absorption of UV by waxy substances on leaf surfaces, cell walls, and intracellular chemical compounds such as flavonoids.<sup>1–7</sup> The UV that is not absorbed induces DNA damage such as the formation of cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) and (6– 4) photoproducts. Field-grown crops such as wheat are also known to suffer continuous UV-induced DNA damage.<sup>9</sup> Furthermore, due to the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in cells by UV irradiation, biotic stresses, and secondary metabolism, cellular components, including DNA,

<sup>†</sup> Present address: Section of Plant Biology, University of California, Davis, One Shields Avenue, Davis, CA 95616.



Seisuke Kimura (born 1973) studied biology at Tokyo University of Science (Japan), where he received his Ph.D. in 2001 under the supervision of Professor Kengo Sakaguchi. He was a research associate at Tokyo University of Science from 2001 to 2005. He has received a long-term research grant from TOYOBO foundation to University of California, Davis, from 2005, working under the direction of Professor Neelima Sinha. His research interests are in the mechanism of DNA repair in higher plants and the application of the studies of DNA repair to production of UV resistance plants.



Kengo Sakaguchi (born 1944) received a Ph.D. from Hokkaido University (Japan) in 1972. Dr. Sakaguchi was appointed as Associate Professor in the Department of Applied Biological Science at the Tokyo University of Science in 1990. He was promoted to Professor in 1995. He was appointed in 2004 as the Chairman of the Department. His research interests are in the mechanism of DNA replication, repair, and recombination in higher eukaryotes.

are oxidized and are thus susceptible to oxidative modifications. In addition, the fidelity and integrity of DNA are constantly challenged by chemical substances in the environment, ionizing radiation, and errors that occur during DNA replication or proofreading (Figure 1). This accumulated damage blocks a number of critical processes, such as

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Telephone: +81-4-7124-1501 (ext 3409). Fax: +81-4-7123-9767. E-mail: kengo@rs.noda.tus.ac.jp.



**Figure 1.** Plant DNA damage and DNA repair. DNA in plants is constantly damaged by environmental stresses. Plants have several DNA repair pathways to protect themselves.

transcription and replication, and can eventually cause cell death, which leads to undesirable effects on the growth and yield of plants.<sup>10–13</sup>

Plants have evolved several DNA repair pathways (Figure 1). While previous studies on DNA repair have mostly focused on animals and yeast cells, recent analyses of UV tolerance and DNA repair have addressed the responses of plants to environmental factors and to the mechanisms of stress resistance in plants.<sup>14–18</sup> An additional basis for molecular analyses has been provided by the completion of genome sequencing projects in model plants such as rice and *Arabidopsis*.<sup>19–21</sup> Completed genome sequences allow the identification of entire gene groups related to DNA repair in higher plants. The recent advances in understanding the mechanisms of protection against DNA damage and of plant DNA repair will be described here.

# 2. Genome Projects and Plant DNA Repair

Completion of the model dicot *Arabidopsis* and monocot rice genome sequencing projects<sup>19–21</sup> gives researchers access to complete genomic sequences and structures, and has introduced a new phase in the study of DNA repair in higher plants. The availability of high quality nucleic acid sequences has provided a powerful tool for genetic research, but the inherent limitations of genomic sequence databases, such as the amount of nonannotated sequence that will need to be identified by proteomics or traditional genetics, means that some genes that are unique members of a DNA repair system may go undetected for the present.

# 2.1. Species Used for the Study of DNA Repair in Higher Plants

*Arabidopsis* is a small plant with a short generation time (about 6 weeks), that has been used extensively as an experimental model in plant genetics for a long time (Figure 2), in part because of its exceptionally small genome (130

Arabidopsis thaliana



Figure 2. Species used for the study of DNA repair in higher plants. *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *Oryza sativa* (rice) are mainly used for the study of plant DNA repair.

MBp, n = 5). The *Arabidopsis* genome sequencing project was completed in 2000 and was the first completed in higher plants.<sup>19</sup> In addition to the full genomic sequence, a number of research tools such as a series of T-DNA insertion mutants are available in this species, making it the most suitable model dicotyledonous plant for research. Many UV-sensitive and UV-resistant mutants have been isolated, and DNA repair has been studied in *Arabidopsis*.<sup>15</sup>

About half of the world's population uses rice as staple food, making rice the most important food crop. Rice, however, is subject to a number of devastating diseases, it is sensitive to environmental conditions such as soil salinity and heavy metals, and it has some critical nutritional shortcomings. Therefore, molecular studies of rice are increasingly important for the world's agriculture.<sup>22</sup> Rice has a small genome (430 Mbp, n = 12) compared to other staple grain crops such as wheat (15 Gbp) or maize (2.5 Gbp). The rice genome sequencing project, with Japanese initiative, was finished in 2004.<sup>20,21</sup> The genome sequence of rice has a high degree of synteny with wheat and maize. Therefore, the understanding of genetic and physiological processes obtained in rice is largely applicable to other cereals, making rice an ideal model crop.<sup>22,23</sup> Research databases such as the full-length cDNA project database (KOME; knowledgebased Oryza molecular biological encyclopedia)<sup>21</sup> and libraries of transposon-induced mutants are also available for rice.<sup>24</sup> Furthermore, the mechanisms of tolerance to stresses such as disease, low temperature, and drought are being studied in rice. The study of DNA repair in rice will likely play a significant role in the future development of practical agronomic applications.

Recently, increases in UV radiation (especially UV-B) on the surface of the earth because of ozone depletion have become a serious problem. The depletion of the ozone layer became evident as the so-called ozone hole expanded over the Antarctic in the 1980s. The total amount of atmospheric ozone has continued to decrease, making DNA repair in the world's most important food crop even more important in the future.

| photoreactivation (C-2) photohyses (C-4)   | pathway              | gene              | function/remarks  | accession            |
|--|----------------------|-------------------|---|----------------------|
| (6-4) photopoase         Removal of (6-4) photopoduct         AP005004           (NER)         XPB         DNA holicess, subunit of THHH         AK069447           (NER)         XPB         DNA holicess, subunit of THHH         AK06947           (NER)         XPD         DNA holicess, subunit of THHH         AK06947           (NER)         XPP         DNA holicess, subunit of THHH         AK069457           (NER)         XPP         DNA holices, subunit of THHH         AK069457           (NER)         YPP         DNA holices, subunit of THHH         AK069457           (NPA)         Si naision         AK070764         AK069508           (N-DDB)         UV damaged DNA holiding protein-1         AK065508           (N-DDB)         UV damaged DNA holiding protein-2         AR071717           (Nad23)         binds to DNA damage         AK06488           Rad23         tinds to DNA damage         AK06488  | photoreactivation    | CPD photolyase    | removal of CPD  | AK111418             |
| minichonic excision repair (MA) minica to DAA aliming (MER) XPP (DAA hebries, subunit of THUH AKOU266<br>XPD DAA hebries, subunit of THUH AKOU266<br>XPD in the second of the se   |                      | (6-4) photolyase  | Rremoval of (6-4) photoproduct                          | AP005008             |
| OLSO         XPC         Didds to DNA damage         AKU2020           XPD         DNA helicass, subunit of THUH         AKU09723           XPF (Raul)         S' incision         AK08555           XPC (Raul)         S' incision         AK08724           XPC (Raul)         S' incision         AK08724           VV-DDB1         UV damagel DNA hinding protein-1         AK05505           UV-DDB2         UV damaged DNA hinding protein-2         AR08231           Rad23         binds to DNA damage         AK06481           CSA         transcription-coupled NER         AK017171           CSB         transcription-coupled NER         AK07226           MAS2         transcription-coupled NER         AK07226           MAS2         transcription-coupled NER         AK07226           MAS2         transcription-coupled NER         AK07226           MAS2         transcription-coupled NER         AK07226           TF2H1         TTHII subunits p24         OSIN0001           CDK7         kinase subunit THIH         AK07235   | (NFR)                | (XPA)<br>XPB      | binds to DNA damage                                     | AK060447             |
| TPD         DNA belicase, submit of THIH         AK09756           XPF (Rul1)         5' incision         AK07366           KPG (Rul2)         5' incision         AK07366           V-DDB2         UV damaged DNA binding protein-1         AK08356           UV-DDB2         UV damaged DNA binding protein-2         Ab03381           Kod23         binds to DNA damage         AK06466           Kod23         binds to DNA damage         AK06466           Kod23         binds to DNA damage         AK06466           Kod23         binds to DNA damage         AK06456           Kod23         transcription-coupled NER         AK06456           CSB         transcription-coupled NER         AK06726           KMS/0         transcription-coupled NER         AK07266 <td>(IVER)</td> <td>XPC</td> <td>binds to DNA damage</td> <td>AK102608</td>  | (IVER)               | XPC               | binds to DNA damage                                     | AK102608             |
| XPF (Rad1)         5' incision         AK00855           ERCC (Rad10)         3' incision         AK00856           UV-DDB1         UV damaged DNA binding protein-1         AK065508           UV-DDB2         UV damaged DNA binding protein-2         AR085308           Rad23         binds to DNA damage         AK069508           Rad23         binds to DNA damage         AK069508           Rad23         binds to DNA damage         AK069508           Rad23         binds to DNA damage         AK069502           CSA         transcription-coupled NPR         AK06155           CSB         transcription-coupled NPR         AK079724           CSP         transcription-coupled NPR         AK079745           XAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK079745           XAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK079745           VAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK079745           XAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK07974           XAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK07974           XAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK07974           XAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK07974           XAR2         transcription-coupled NPR         AK  |                      | XPD               | DNA helicase, subunit of THIIH                          | AK099724             |
| Barborn     Barborn     AK00764       VPG (Rad2)     3' incision     AK00764       UV-DDB1     UV damaged DNA binding protein-1     AK005381       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK069055       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK06456       CSA     transcription-coupled NER     AK06456       CSA     transcription-coupled NER     AK06456       CSA     transcription-coupled NER     AK06456       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK07171       CSP     transcription-coupled NER     AK07456       CSP     transcription-coupled NER     AK07456       CSP     transcription-coupled NER     AK07456       CSP     transcription-coupled NER     AK07456       CDK7     kinase subuni THIH     AK07206       CDK7     kinase subuni THIH     AK07206       CDK7     kinase subuni THIH     AK07328       CDK7     kinase subuni THIH     AK07320       CDK7     kinase subuni THIH     AK07320       CDK7     kinase subuni THIH     AK07320       CDK7     kinase subuni THIH     AK07320   <   |                      | XPF (Rad1)        | 5' incision   | AK068556             |
| XPG (Rad2)     3' incision     AC12356       UV-DDB1     UV damaged DNA binding protein-1     AK065508       UV-DD22     UV damaged DNA binding protein-2     AR05508       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK064881       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK064981       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK064981       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK06155       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK06156       CSA     transcription-coupled NER     AK06157       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK06458       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK06456       MM519     transcription-coupled NER     AK06726       MM519     transcription-coupled NER     AK06726       MM519     transcription-coupled NER     AK06726       T72H1     TFHI submits p62     OSN0000       Color     transcription-coupled NER     AK06728       COK7     kinase submit THHH     AK07328       COK7     kinase submit THHH     AK07328       COK7     kinase submit THHH     AK07328       COK7     kinase submit THHH     AK07378       COK7     kinase submit THHH     AK07378       COK7     kinase submit THHH     AK07378       COK7     kinase submit THHH  |                      | ERCC1 (Rad10)     | 5' incision   | AK070764             |
| bese excision repair bese bese bese bese bese bese bese bese   |                      | XPG (Rad2)        | 3' incision   | AC123568             |
| bill bill bill bill bill bill bill bill  |                      | UV-DDB1           | UV damaged DNA binding protein-1                        | AK065508             |
| Rod23         binds to DNA damage         AC009005           Rod23         binds to DNA damage         AC0372           Rod23         binds to DNA damage         AC03725           Rod23         binds to DNA damage         AC03155           Rod23         binds to DNA damage         AC03155           CM         transcription-coupled NEB         AC01157           CM         transcription-coupled NEB         AC03171           CM         transcription-coupled NEB         AC03171           CM         transcription-coupled NEB         AC03172           XAD2         transcription-coupled NEB         AC03264           XAD3         transcription-coupled NEB         AC03264           XAD2         transcription-coupled NEB         AC03264           XAD3         transcription-coupled NEB         AC03264           TF3H1         TFH1 submits p52         OSN000         OSN000           TF3H1         TFH1 submits p52         OSN000         OSN000           CDK7         knase submit THH1         AC03266           CDK7         knase submit THH1         AC03266           CDK7         knase submit THH1         AC03207           KGER)         Tog1         glycoxylase         AC063273   |                      | UV-DDB2<br>Rad23  | UV damaged DNA binding protein-2<br>binds to DNA damage | AB082381<br>AK064881 |
| Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK013728       Rad23     binds to DNA damage     AK013728       CSA     transcription-coupled NER     AK014726       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK047177       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK047177       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK06456       XAB2     transcription-coupled NER     AK06456       TF2H1     TFIH submits p62     AK06124       TF2H1     TFIH submits p62     AK06126       (TF2H3)     TFIH submits p54     OSIN0000       CVc/in H     kinase submit THIIH     AK06326       CDK7     kinase submit THIH     AK06326       CDK7     kinase submit THIH     AK073808       CDK7     kinase submit THIH     AK073808       MAT1     kinase submit THIH     AK063255       Data     glycoxylase     AK063257       KBR     glycoxylase     AK063257       MAT1     kinase submit THIH     AK063257       MAT1  |                      | Rad23             | binds to DNA damage                                     | AK069065             |
| Rad23binds to DNA damageAK01350CSAtranscription-coupled NFRAK011811CSBtranscription-coupled NFRAK004350CSBtranscription-coupled NFRAK004350CSBtranscription-coupled NFRAK004350MMS19transcription-coupled NFRAK007020TF2H2TTHI subunits p62AK006320TF2H3TTHI subunits p52OSIN00010CVCini Hkinase subunit THIIHAK008320CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK002060CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK002060CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK072060CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK072060CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK073080CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK073080CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK073080CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK073080CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK073080CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK067350KM11kinase subunit THIIHAK063260CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK063260CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK063260CDK7kinase subunit THIIHAK063260Ku14glycoxylaseAK063270Ma11kinase subunit THIIHAK063260Ku24TagfglycoxylaseAK063270MutMglycoxylaseAK063270MutMglycoxylaseAK063270MutMglycoxylaseAK063260MutMglycoxylaseAK063260MutM   |                      | Rad23             | binds to DNA damage                                     | AK103728             |
| CSA     transcription-coupled NER     AK01181       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK07177       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK0777       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK06752       MMS19     transcription-coupled NER     AK06754       TP2H1     TFIH subunits p44     OSIN0016       (TF2H3)     TFIH subunits p54     OSIN0016       (TF2H3)     TFIH subunits p54     OSIN0016       CNC7     kinase subunit THIH     AK068516       CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK067269       CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK072696       CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK073080       MAT1     kinase subunit THIH     AK073080       MAT1     kinase subunit THIH     AK073080       MAT1     kinase subunit THIH     AK065375       Math     glycosylase     AK065375       Math     glycosylase     AK065375       Math     glycosylase     AK065375       Math <td></td> <td>Rad23</td> <td>binds to DNA damage</td> <td>AK061556</td>   |                      | Rad23             | binds to DNA damage                                     | AK061556             |
| CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK06435       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK09452       XAB2     transcription-coupled NER     AK09582       XAB2     transcription-coupled NER     AK07171       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK07824       MMS19     transcription-coupled NER     AK07234       T72H1     TTIH subunits p44     OSIN0010       Cyclin H     kinase subunit THIH     AK06432       CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK06923       CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK07236       CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK065273       Kinase subunit THIH     AK065273     Kinase subunit THIH       MAT1     kinase subunit THIH     AK065273       (BER)     Tagl     glycosylase     AK101077       Tagl     glycosylase     AK064327       MuM     glycosylase     AK064376       MuM     glycosylase     AK064376       MuM     glycosylase     AK064376       MuM     glycosylase     AK064376       MuM     glycosylase     AK101077       MuM <td></td> <td>CSA</td> <td>transcription-coupled NER</td> <td>AK111811</td>   |                      | CSA               | transcription-coupled NER                               | AK111811             |
| CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK007171       CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK007264       MMS19     transcription-coupled NER     AK007264       T72H1     TFIH subunits p42     AK085726       T72H2     TFIH subunits p52     OSN00016       (TF2H3)     TFIH subunits p54     OSN00016       (TF2H4)     TFIH subunits p52     OSN00016       (TF2H3)     TFIH subunits p52     OSN0001       CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK068716       (CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK067338       (CDK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK07264       (DK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK07286       (DK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK07378       (BER)     Tag1     glycosylase     AK063273       (BER)     Tag1     glycosylase     AK063273       Tag1     glycosylase     AK065273       (BER)     Tag1     glycosylase     AK063273       Tag1   |                      | CSB               | transcription-coupled NER                               | AK064456             |
| CSB     transcription-coupled NER     AK099822       XAB2     transcription-coupled NER     AK06726       MMS19     transcription-coupled NER     AK070264       TF2H1     TFIH subunits p62     AK068124       TF2H2     TFIH subunits p64     OSIN0006       (TF2H3)     TFIH subunits p52     OSIN0006       (Vc/in H     kinase subunit THIH     AK06828       (DK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK068296       (DK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK067269       (DK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK072696       (DK7     kinase subunit THIH     AK063273       (BER)     Tag1     glycosylase     AK065327       (BER)     Tag1     glycosylase     AK065237       (BER)     Tag1     glycosylase     AK065327       (BER)     AP endonuclease     DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) l   |                      | CSB               | transcription-coupled NER                               | AK071717             |
| $ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $  |                      | CSB               | transcription-coupled NER                               | AK099822             |
| $\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $   |                      | XAB2<br>MMS10     | transcription-coupled NER                               | AK066/26             |
| $\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $   |                      | MM519<br>TE2H1    | TELH subunits p62                                       | AK070204<br>AK068124 |
| (F2H3) TFIIH submits p34 (F2H3) (F2H3) (F2H3) (F2H3) (F2H3) (F2H4) (F2H3) (F2H4) (F2   |                      | TF2H1<br>TF2H2    | TFIIH subunits p02                                      | OSIN00169            |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$  |                      | (TF2H3)           | TFIIH subunits p34                                      | 0551(0010)           |
| $ \begin{array}{cccc} Cyclin H & kinase subunit THIIH & AK101835 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK064909 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067208 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK072080 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK073808 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067238 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067238 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067350 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067350 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067350 \\ MaT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK065754 \\ MaT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK065754 \\ MaT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK065373 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065373 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065370 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065590 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065590 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065590 \\ MutM & glycosylase & AK065370 \\ AlKA & glycosylase & AK063273 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK101426 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK103474 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK103476 \\ MuSH5 homologue & MuS family & AK105809 \\ (PMS1) & MuS family & AK105809 \\ (PMS1) & MuS family & AK105809 \\ (PMS1) & MuS family & AK105809 \\ (PMS2) & MuS family & AK105809 \\ (PMS1) & MuS family & AK105809 \\ (PMS2) & MuSH family & AK105809 \\ (PMS2) & MuSH family & AK105809 \\ (PMS1) & M$      |                      | TF2H4             | TFIIH subunits p52                                      | OSJN00017            |
| CDK7     kinase subunit THIIH     AK068910       CDK7     kinase subunit THIIH     AK064909       CDK7     kinase subunit THIIH     AK07236       CDK7     kinase subunit THIIH     AK07266       CDK7     kinase subunit THIIH     AK07266       CDK7     kinase subunit THIIH     AK07286       CDK7     kinase subunit THIIH     AK07816       MA71     kinase subunit THIIH     AK07816       base excision repair     Tagl     glycosylase     AK10371       MA71     kinase subunit THIIH     AK065373       BER)     Tagl     glycosylase     AK065373       Tagl     glycosylase     AK065376       MuM     glycosylase     AK065376       MuM     glycosylase     AK065376       MuM     glycosylase     AK065376       MuM     glycosylase     AK06376       MuM     glycosylase     AK06376       MuM     glycosylase     AK07304       Ung     glycosylase     AK10140       Ung     glycosylase     AK10142       MuWY     glycosylase     AK10371       MuMY     glycosylase     AK10371       Marbi     MWY     MUSA       MuS Pendonuclease     DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase     AK1  |                      | Cyclin H          | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK101854             |
| $ \begin{array}{cccc} CDK7 & kinase submit THIIH & AK06490 \\ CDK7 & kinase submit THIIH & AK07289 \\ CDK7 & kinase submit THIIH & AK07289 \\ CDK7 & kinase submit THIIH & AK07380 \\ CDK7 & kinase submit THIIH & AK07380 \\ MAT1 & kinase submit THIIH & AK073780 \\ MAT1 & kinase submit THIIH & AK065754 \\ Mat1 & glycosylase & AK065193 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065193 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065590 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065196 \\ MutM & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK06326 \\ Ung & glycosylase & AK073046 \\ Ung & AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK101426 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK10379 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK10379 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK10379 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK10379 \\ PARP & MuS family & AK11168 \\ MSH3 & MuS family & AK11044 \\ MuS family & AK10142 \\ MuS family & AK105400 \\ (MMR) & MSH2 & MuS family & AK105400 \\ (MMR) & MSH2 & MuS family & AK10127 \\ MuS homologue & MuS family & AK105400 \\ (MLH3) & MuY family & AK102601 \\ MLH1 & MuY family & AK105609 \\ (MLH3) & MuY family & AK105609 \\ (Red S1D) & Rad51 homologue & Col RecA & AK099587 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Lot excit A & AK099587 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Lot excit A &$ |                      | ĊDK7              | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK068916             |
| $ \begin{array}{ccccc} CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067289 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK07289 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK101089 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK107310 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067371 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK067571 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK065737 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIIH & AK065737 \\ IBER & Tagl & glycosylase & AK065193 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK065307 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK065307 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK065307 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK063275 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK063205 \\ AlkB & glycosylase & AK063205 \\ AlkB & glycosylase & AK063205 \\ AlkB & glycosylase & AK101427 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102161 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK103179 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK102161 \\ AK10319 & MX111168 \\ MSH3 & MutS family & AK110147 \\ MutS homologue & MutS family & AK101470 \\ MutS homologue & MutS family & AK101420 \\ (MMR) & MSH2 & MutS family & AK103409 \\ (PMS1) & MutY family & AK103409 \\ (PMS1) & MutY family & AK103409 \\ (PMS2) & MutY family & AK103409 \\ (PMS1) & MutY family & AK103409 \\ (PMS2) & MutY family & AK103409 \\ (HLH1 & MutY family & AK103409 \\ (HLH1 & MutY family & AK103409 \\ (Rad51D & Rad51 homologue & AK060711 \\ (Rad51D) & Rad51 homologue & AK06071 \\ (Rad51D) & Rad51 homologue & Robologue & AK06071 \\ (Rad51D) & Rad51 homologue & Robologue & AK06071 \\ (Rad51D) & Rad51 homologue & Robologue & AK06071 \\ (Rad51D) & Rad51 homologue & Robologue & AK06071 \\ (Rad51D) & Rad51 homologu$    |                      | CDK7              | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK064909             |
| $ \begin{array}{ccccc} CDK7 & kinase subunt 1HIH & AK0/259 \\ CDK7 & kinase subuni THIH & AK01089 \\ CDK7 & kinase subuni THIH & AK07380 \\ MAT1 & kinase subuni THIH & AK07380 \\ MAT1 & kinase subuni THIH & AK06574 \\ kinase subuni THIH & AK06574 \\ AK065754 & KK06574 \\ Base excision repair & Tagl & glycosylase & AK10707 \\ Tagl & glycosylase & AK06520 \\ MuM & glycosylase & AK06520 \\ MuM & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK07304 \\ Ung & glycosylase & AK07304 \\ Ung & glycosylase & AK07304 \\ Ung & glycosylase & AK07304 \\ MuY & glycosylase & AK07304 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK10312 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK103174 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK103479 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) pol$       |                      | CDK7              | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK067238             |
| $\begin{array}{c cccc} CDK7 & kinase subunit THIH & AK101089 \\ CDK7 & kinase subunit THIH & AK07380 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIH & AK07371 \\ MAT1 & kinase subunit THIH & AK065754 \\ kinase subunit THIH & AK065754 \\ akto65754 & akto65757 \\ TagI & glycosylase & AK107071 \\ TagI & glycosylase & AK065207 \\ TagI & glycosylase & AK065207 \\ TagI & glycosylase & AK065207 \\ TagI & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ Akto65376 & Akt09346 \\ MutM & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK065376 \\ AlkA & glycosylase & AK073046 \\ Ung & glycosylase & AK073046 \\ Ung & glycosylase & AK073046 \\ Ung & glycosylase & AK073046 \\ HutY & glycosylase & AK102122 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK103213 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP Endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP Endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102601 \\ MAR & MSH2 & MutS family & AK11046 \\ (MMR) & MSH2 & MutS family & AK10127 \\ MutS homologue & MutS family & AK10127 \\ MutS homologue & MutS family & AK102601 \\ MLH1 & MutY family & AK103157 \\ Rad51D & Rad51 homologue & AK06759 \\ (Rad51D) & Rad51 homologue & AK06757 \\ MC1 & Rad51 homologue & AK103355 \\ MC2 & Chi & Rad51 homologue & AK103355 \\ MC1 & Rad51 homologue & AK103455 \\ MC2 & Chi & Rad51 homologue & AK10641 \\ (MCC) & NDA homb resc heneral hometic heneral hometic heneral hometic homet$         |                      | CDK7              | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK0/2696             |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccc} & \begin{tabular}{l ccccc} & \begin{tabular}{cccccc} & \begin{tabular}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$   |                      | CDK7              | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK101089<br>AK073808 |
| $\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $   |                      | MATI              | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK103771             |
| base excision repair $TagI$ glycosylase AK063273<br>(BER) $TagI$ glycosylase AK065590<br>TagI glycosylase AK065590<br>TagI glycosylase AK065193<br>TagI glycosylase AK065193<br>TagI glycosylase AK065295<br>MutM glycosylase AK065376<br>AlkA glycosylase AK065376<br>AlkA glycosylase AK065376<br>AlkA glycosylase AK065370<br>AlkA glycosylase AK065370<br>AlkA glycosylase AK063295<br>MutY glycosylase AK073046<br>Ung glycosylase OSJN0009<br>(Ogg) glycosylase AK073046<br>MutY glycosylase AK073046<br>MutY glycosylase AK073046<br>AP endonuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK101232<br>AP endonuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK102132<br>AP endonuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK102132<br>AP endonuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK102132<br>AP endonuclease 2 DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK102132<br>AP endonuclease 2 DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK103479<br>PARP poly( $ADP$ -ribose) polymerase AK103479<br>PARP poly( $ADP$ -ribose) polymerase AK103479<br>PARP poly( $ADP$ -ribose) polymerase AK102601<br>MSH3 MutS family AK111168<br>MSH3 MutS family AK10127<br>MutS homologue MutS family AK10127<br>MutS homologue MutS family AK10127<br>MutS homologue MutS family AK103319<br>(HR) Rad511 recombination protein, RecA homologue AK0607042<br>MutH11 MutY family<br>PMS2 MutY family AK103319<br>(HR) Rad511C Rad51 homologue AK103511<br>(Rad51D) Rad51 homologue AK060711<br>(Rad51D) Rad51 homologue AK060711<br>(Rad51D) Rad51 homologue AK060712<br>DMCL Rad51 homologue AK060730<br>DMCL Rad51 homologue AK0609587<br>DMCC1 Rad51 homologue AK104454<br>MtH10 Homologue AK103455<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK104454<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK104454<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK1044554<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK1044554<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK1045554<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK1045554<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK1045555<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK1045555<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK104555<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK104555<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK104555<br>MtC1 Rad51 homologue AK10455  |                      | MATI              | kinase subunit THIIH                                    | AK065754             |
| (BER) TagI glycosylase AK11077 TagI glycosylase AK065590 TagI glycosylase AK065590 TagI glycosylase AK065193 TagI glycosylase AK063295 MuM glycosylase AK063295 MuM glycosylase AK063295 MuM glycosylase AK063295 MuM glycosylase AK073046 Ung glycosylase AK073046 Ung glycosylase AK073046 Ung glycosylase AK073046 AlkA glycosylase AK073046 Ale endomuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK101426 AP endomuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK102132 AP endomuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK102132 AP endomuclease DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK102132 AP endomuclease 2 DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase AK103479 PARP poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase AK103479 AK104511 metals family AK065300 AK10579 PMS2 MuY family AK065300 RecA similar to E. coli RecA A AK0609717 RecA similar to E. coli RecA A AK069587 DMC1 metals bare bare bare bare bare bare bare bare  | base excision repair | TagI              | glycosylase   | AK063273             |
| TaglglycosylaseAK06550TaglglycosylaseAK069193TaglglycosylaseAK06326MutMglycosylaseAK06326MutMglycosylaseAK06326MutMglycosylaseAK06326MutMglycosylaseAK06326MutMglycosylaseAK06326MutMglycosylaseAK06326UngglycosylaseAK06326MutYglycosylaseAK06326MutYglycosylaseAK10426AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK102132AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK10347PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK10347PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK102681(MMR)MSH1MutS familyAK10146(MMR)MSH2MutS familyAK101127Mus homologueMutS familyAK101280MutS homologueMutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutY familyAK103409(HR)Rad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK06370MLH1MutY familyAK103519(AK10757)Rad51CRad51 homologueAK103457AK103457(HR)Rad51 lomologueRad51 homologueAK0699587(MCC)Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK103457(MCC)Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK103469(MCC)Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK10454   | (BER)                | TagI              | glycosylase   | AK110707             |
| TaglglycosylaseAK069193TaglglycosylaseAK109346MutMglycosylaseAK063295MutMglycosylaseAK06326AlkAglycosylaseAK073046UngglycosylaseOSJN0009(Ogg)glycosylaseOSJN0009(Ogg)glycosylaseAC138002AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK101426AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK103074PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK103074PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK103074MRNMutS familyAK110146(MMR)MSH1MutS familyAK110146(MMR)MSH2MutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK105300(MMR)MSH3MutS familyAK105309(PMS1)MutS familyAK10509(MLH3)MutS familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK102601(MLH3)MutY familyAK10319(MLH3)MutY familyAK102601(MLH3)Rad51 homologueAK067792(HR)Rad51 BRad51 homologueAK067792(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK10365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK10365MC1Rad51 homologueAK103755DMC1Rad51 homologue, meioxisAK104410541(WCCC)DNA bracket how the net inAK1044   |                      | TagI              | glycosylase   | AK065590             |
| TaglglycosylaseAK109346MutMglycosylaseAK063295MutMglycosylaseAK063295AlkAglycosylaseAK063306UngglycosylaseOSJN0009(Ogg)glycosylaseAK101426AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK102132AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK102132AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK102132AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK103074PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK103074PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK102613MKH1MutS familyAK110146(MMR)MSH2MutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK105109(PMS1)MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK10319(MLH3)MutY familyAK10319(MLH3)MutY familyAK10319(MLH3)Rad51 homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51BRad51 homologueAK064759(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK103165RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365MC1Rad51 homologueAK103455DMC1Rad51 homologueAK104464959DMC1Rad51 homologueAK10446459DMC1Rad51 homologueAK103455DMC1  |                      | TagI              | glycosylase   | AK069193             |
| MutMglycosylaseAK063295MutMglycosylaseAK063276AlkAglycosylaseAK073046UngglycosylaseOSIN0009(Ogg)glycosylaseOSIN0009(Ogg)glycosylaseAC138002MutYglycosylaseAC138002AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK101426AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK103074PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK103479PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK10268(MMR)MSH2MutS familyAK110146(MMR)MSH2MutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyAK105809(HR)Rad51 recombination protein, RecA homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51 homologueAK103319(MLH3)Rad51 homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51 homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51 homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51 homologueAK063761(RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365(RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103455(DCC2)DNA familar to E. coli RecAAK103455(DC1)Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK110641   |                      | Tagl              | glycosylase   | AK109346             |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$  |                      | MutM              | glycosylase   | AK063295             |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$  |                      | NIUTNI<br>A 11-A  | glycosylase   | AK005370             |
| OrgBytycosylaseOchronol(Ogg)glycosylaseAC138002MutYglycosylaseAC138002AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK101426AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK103132AP endonuclease 2DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK103479PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK102681MRNMSH1MutS familyAK111168(MMR)MSH2MutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK1065300MSH5MutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutS familyAK105809(HR)Rad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51BRad51 homologueAK067791(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK067791(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK069711(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK069751(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK069751(RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365(PCC)NDA fahren to E. coli RecAAK103456(PCC)NDA fahren to E. coli RecAAK10345(PMC1)Rad51 homologueAK10345(PMC1)Rad51 homologueAK10345(PMC1)Rad51 homologueAK10345(PMC2)PMA coli homologueAK10345(PMC2)PMA coli homologueAK10345(PMC2)PMA coli homologueAK10345(PMC2)PMA co  |                      | IIng              | glycosylase   | OSIN00095            |
| MurYglycosylaseAC138002AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK101426AP endonucleaseDNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK1013074AP endonuclease 2DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyaseAK103074PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK103479PARPpoly(ADP-ribose) polymeraseAK101426(MMR)MSH1MutS familyAK110146(MMR)MSH2MutS familyAK110146(MMR)MSH3MutS familyAK105300MSH5MutS familyAK065300MSH5MutS familyAK067042MutS homologueMutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyAK103319(HR)Rad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51BRad51 homologueAK060971(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK009918(RcAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365RDC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK10641(WCC2)DNA heads to homologue, meiosisAK10641  |                      | (Ogg)             | glycosylase   | 00011000075          |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$  |                      | MutY              | glycosylase   | AC138002             |
| $\begin{array}{cccc} AP \ endonuclease & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK102132 \\ AP \ endonuclease 2 & DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase & AK103074 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK103479 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK103479 \\ PARP & poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase & AK102681 \\ (MMR) & MSH1 & MutS family & AK110146 \\ (MMR) & MSH2 & MutS family & AK111168 \\ MSH3 & MutS family & AK101127 \\ MutS homologue & MutS family & AK067042 \\ MutS homologue & MutS family & AK105809 \\ (PMS1) & MutY family & AK105809 \\ (PMS1) & MutY family & AK102601 \\ MLH1 & MutY family & AK102601 \\ MLH1 & MutY family & AK10319 \\ (MLH3) & MutY family & AK10319 \\ (MLH3) & MutY family & AK1037571 \\ Rad51B & Rad51 homologue & AK064759 \\ RecA & similar to E. coli RecA & AK103365 \\ RecA & similar to E. coli RecA & AK103365 \\ PMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK103451 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & Rad51 homologue & AK1041 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & RAC1 & RAd51 homologue & RAC1 & RAD51 \\ DMC1 & Rad51 homologue & RAC1 & RAD51 homologue & RAC1 & RAC1 & RAD51 \\ DMC1 & RAD4 & DMC1 & RAD4 $              |                      | AP endonuclease   | DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase               | AK101426             |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$   |                      | AP endonuclease   | DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase               | AK102132             |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$   |                      | AP endonuclease 2 | DNA-(apurinic or apyrimidinic site) lyase               | AK103074             |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$  |                      | PARP              | poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase                             | AK103479             |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$   | uniour stalk non sin | PARP              | poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase                             | AK102681             |
| (MMR)MMB12MMB familyAK065300MSH3MutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK067042MutS homologueMutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK102601MLH3MutY familyAK103319(HR)Rad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK107571Rad51BRad51 homologueAK107571(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK060971(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK0609787DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK10365(MC1)Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK10641(YBC2)DNC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK110641   | (MMR)                | MSH1<br>MSH2      | MutS family<br>MutS family                              | ΔΚ110140             |
| MillsMillsMillsMSH5MutS familyAK101127MutS homologueMutS familyAK007042MutS homologueMutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyAK103319(MR)Rad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51BRad51 homologueAK107571Rad51CRad51 homologueAK060971(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK03365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK10641(YBCC2)DNCh herely end were WerkerendeAK10641  | (WIWIK)              | MSH2<br>MSH3      | MutS family   | AK065300             |
| MutS homologueMutS familyAK067042MutS homologueMutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyAK103319(MR)Rad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51BRad51 homologueAK107571(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK060971(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK10411(VBCC2)DNA herely erely weighterAK1041   |                      | MSH5              | MutS family   | AK101127             |
| MutS homologueMutS familyAK105809(PMS1)MutY familyPMS2PMS2MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyAK103319(HR)Rad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51BRad51 homologueAK107571(Rad51C)Rad51 homologueAK060971(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK10641(YBCC2)DNCh homologue, and an an an an an and an and an   |                      | MutS homologue    | MutS family   | AK067042             |
| (PMS1)MutY familyPMS2MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyhomologous recombinationRad51Rad51BRad51 homologueRad51CRad51 homologue(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueRecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosis(XBCC2)DNA herely erg laward laward)   |                      | MutS homologue    | MutS family   | AK105809             |
| PMS2MutY familyAK102601MLH1MutY familyAK103319(MLH3)MutY familyAK103319homologous recombinationRad51recombination protein, RecA homologueAK064759(HR)Rad51BRad51 homologueAK107571Rad51CRad51 homologueAK060971(Rad51D)Rad51 homologueAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK110641(XBCC2)DNA hered is of homologueAK1041   |                      | (PMS1)            | MutY family   |                      |
| MLH1       MutY family       AK103319         (MLH3)       MutY family       AK064759         homologous recombination       Rad51       recombination protein, RecA homologue       AK064759         (HR)       Rad51B       Rad51 homologue       AK107571         Rad51C       Rad51 homologue       AK060971         (Rad51D)       Rad51 homologue       AK103365         RecA       similar to E. coli RecA       AK099587         DMC1       Rad51 homologue, meiosis       AK10641         (XBCC2)       DNL4 homologue, meiosis       AK110641  |                      | PMS2              | MutY family   | AK102601             |
| (MLH3)       MutY family         homologous recombination       Rad51         (HR)       Rad51B         Rad51C       Rad51 homologue         (Rad51D)       Rad51 homologue         (Rad51D)       Rad51 homologue         RecA       similar to E. coli RecA         Similar to E. coli RecA       AK064759         DMC1       Rad51 homologue         (XBCC2)       DNL1 homologue, meiosis  |                      | MLH1              | MutY family   | AK103319             |
| nomologous recombination       RadS1       recombination protein, RecA nomologue       AK064759         (HR)       Rad51B       Rad51 homologue       AK107571         Rad51C       Rad51 homologue       AK060971         (Rad51D)       Rad51 homologue       AK103365         RecA       similar to E. coli RecA       AK103365         DMC1       Rad51 homologue, meiosis       AK10641         (XBCC2)       DNL       DNL       DNL   | h l                  | (MLH3)            | MutY family   | A 12064750           |
| (IIK)       Rad51D       Rad51 honologue       AK1013/1         Rad51C       Rad51 homologue       AK060971         (Rad51D)       Rad51 homologue       AK103365         RecA       similar to E. coli RecA       AK103365         DMC1       Rad51 homologue, meiosis       AK10641         (XBCC2)       DNL homologue, meiosis       AK10641   | (HP)                 | Rad51R            | Rad51 homologue   | AK064/59<br>AK107571 |
| (Rad51D)Rad51 homologue(Rad51D)RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK110641(XBCC2)DN14 heredicer descention  | (HK)                 | Rad51C            | Rad51 homologue   | AK060971             |
| RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK103365RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK110641(XBCC2)DN1 hereit en denue lichementic   |                      | (Rad51D)          | Rad51 homologue   | 1110000771           |
| RecAsimilar to E. coli RecAAK099587DMC1Rad51 homologue, meiosisAK110641(VBCC2)DNA hereit on deventionAkting and the section  |                      | RecA              | similar to <i>E. coli</i> RecA                          | AK103365             |
| DMC1     Rad51 homologue, meiosis     AK110641       (XRCC2)     DNA hereit en deren licherentie   |                      | RecA              | similar to E. coli RecA                                 | AK099587             |
| (VDCC2) DNA break on 1 and 1 and 1   |                      | DMC1              | Rad51 homologue, meiosis                                | AK110641             |
| (ARCC2) DNA break and cross-link repair  |                      | (XRCC2)           | DNA break and cross-link repair                         |                      |
| XRCC3 DNA break and cross-link repair AP005883   |                      | XRCC3             | DNA break and cross-link repair                         | AP005883             |
| ( <i>Rad52</i> ) involved in recombination   |                      | ( <i>Rad52</i> )  | involved in recombination                               | 4 77 1 1 1 1 0 4     |
| Rad54 involved in recombination AK111184   |                      | Kad54<br>Bad54    | involved in recombination                               | AK111184             |
| (BRCA1) involved in recombination AK06832/   |                      | (BRCA1)           | involved in recombination                               | AKU68327             |
| (BRCA2) Involved in recombination  |                      | (BRCA2)           | involved in recombination                               |                      |

# Table 1 (Continued)

| pathway                            | gene                          | function/remarks                         | accession            |
|------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|----------------------|
| homologous recombination           | Rad50                         | complex with Mre11 and Xrs2              | AK106581             |
| (HR)                               | Rad50                         | complex with Mre11 and Xrs2              | AK109956             |
|                                    | Mre11<br>(Xur2)               | 3' to 5' exonuclease                     | AK0/0546             |
|                                    | (ATS2)<br>NDS1                | Niimagan braakaga sundroma               | A V 060561           |
|                                    | NBSI<br>PadA (sms)            | similar to PadA/Sms                      | AK009301<br>AK102866 |
| nonhomologous and joining          | KudA (SMS)<br>Ku70            | similar to RadA/Sins                     | AK102800<br>AK000080 |
| (NHEI)                             | Ku70<br>Ku80                  | binds to DNA end                         | AK064097             |
| (INIEJ)                            | $(DNA-PK_{CS})$               | DNA-dependent protein kinase             | AK004097             |
| DNA polymerases                    | DNA polymerase a              | primer function in DNA replication       | AB004461             |
| Divirpolymenases                   | $(DNA polymerase \beta)$      | BER, meiosis                             | TID 00 TIOT          |
|                                    | $(DNA \ polymerase \ \gamma)$ | mitochondrial DNA replication and repair |                      |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\delta$       | DNA replication, NER, BER                | AB037899             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\delta$       | DNA replication, NER, BER                | AK110500             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\delta 2$     | DNA polymerase $\delta$ small subunit    | AK067991             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\epsilon$     | DNA replication, cell cycle regulation   | AK107241             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\zeta$        | translesion DNA synthesis                | AP004570             |
|                                    | Rev 7                         | subunit of DNA polymerase $\zeta$        | AP004592             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\eta$         | translesion DNA synthesis, XPV           | AK101271             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\theta$       | DNA repair of cross-links, MUS308        | CNS09S4U             |
|                                    | (DNA polymerase ι)            | translesion DNA synthesis, Rad30         |                      |
|                                    | DNA polymerase ĸ              | translesion DNA synthesis                | AK066372             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\lambda$      | BER, contains a BRCT domain              | AB099525             |
|                                    | (DNA polymerase $\mu$ )       | somatic hypermutation                    |                      |
|                                    | DNA polymerase $\sigma$       | sister-chromatid cohesion                | AK0/0/18             |
|                                    | DNA polymerase V              | similar to S. pombe Pol V                | AK110065             |
|                                    | (1d1)                         | terminal deoxyribonucleotidyltransferase | 47/102026            |
|                                    | Pol I-like                    | chloroplast DNA polymerase               | AK103236             |
|                                    | Pol I-like                    | ramily A DNA polymerase                  | AK065360             |
|                                    | Rev1                          | deoxyribonucleotidyl transferase         | AK008130             |
| proliferating call nuclear antigen | PCNA                          | accessory protein of DNA polymerases     | AK110200<br>AK071501 |
| promerating cen nuclear antigen    | PCNA                          | accessory protein of DNA polymerases     | AK063008             |
| replication factor C               | RECI                          | accessory protein of DNA polymerases     | AK070564             |
| replication factor C               | RFC?                          | accessory protein of DNA polymerases     | AK103718             |
|                                    | RFC3                          | accessory protein of DNA polymerases     | AK069984             |
|                                    | RFC4                          | accessory protein of DNA polymerases     | AK069025             |
|                                    | RFC5                          | accessory protein of DNA polymerases     | AK103751             |
| replication protein A              | RPA70a                        | ssDNA binding                            | AK101212             |
| 1 1                                | RPA70b                        | ssDNA binding                            | AK060582             |
|                                    | RPA70c                        | ssDNA binding                            | AK073598             |
|                                    | RPA32                         | ssDNA binding                            | AK103235             |
|                                    | RPA32                         | ssDNA binding                            | AK073723             |
|                                    | RPA32                         | ssDNA binding                            | AK102353             |
|                                    | RPA14                         | ssDNA binding                            | AK058837             |
| Rad2 nuclease family               | XPG                           | NER                                      | AC123568             |
|                                    | FEN-1a                        | removal of Okazaki fragment, BER         | AK103819             |
|                                    | FEN-1b                        | class II member of Rad2 nuclease family  | AK062149             |
|                                    | FEN-1                         | class II member of Rad2 nuclease family  | AK063534             |
|                                    | EXOI                          | involved in DNA repair                   | AC135159             |
|                                    | SEND-1                        | plant specific Rad2 family nuclease      | AK102542             |
| Rad6 pathway                       | Rado                          | ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme             | AK067/03             |
|                                    | (D = 118)                     | ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme             | AK070524             |
|                                    | (KUU10)<br>MMS2               | ubiquitin conjugating anguma             | AV072720             |
|                                    | MMS2 like                     | ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme             | AK073729             |
|                                    | UBC13                         | ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme             | AK104148             |
| RecO helicase                      | RecO homologue                | RecO-like belicase                       | AK104148             |
| ReeQ henease                       | RecQ homologue                | RecO-like helicase                       | AK072117             |
|                                    | RecQ homologue                | RecO-like helicase                       | AK072117<br>AK073504 |
|                                    | RecQ homologue                | RecO-like helicase                       | AK072977             |
|                                    | WRN-like exonuclease          | WRN-like exonuclease                     | AK063585             |
| topoisomerase                      | topoisomerase I               | type I topoisomerase                     | AK070325             |
| 1                                  | topoisomerase II              | type II topoisomerase                    | AK072471             |
|                                    | topoisomerase III a           | type I topoisomerase                     | AC104428             |
|                                    | topoisomerase III $\beta$     | type I topoisomerase                     | AK066999             |
|                                    | topoisomerase VI subunit A    | type II topoisomerase                    | AC135594             |
|                                    | topoisomerase VI subunit B    | type II topoisomerase                    | AK101452             |
|                                    | Spo11                         | topoisomerase, meiosis                   | AK073344             |
|                                    | Špo11                         | topoisomerase, meiosis                   | AK073184             |
| DNA ligase and related gene        | DNA ligase I                  | ligates DNA ends                         | AK110056             |
| 2 2                                | (DNA ligase III)              | ligates DNA ends                         |                      |
|                                    | XRCC1                         | interacts with DNA ligase III            | AK068998             |
|                                    | DNA ligase IV                 | ligates DNA ends                         | OSJN00168            |

Table 1 (Continued)

| pathway                     | gene  | function/remarks  | accession            |
|-----------------------------|---|---|----------------------|
| DNA ligase and related gene | XRCC4<br>DNA ligase   | interacts with DNA ligase IV ligates DNA ends   | AK071772<br>AK064463 |
| other DNA repair genes      | Rad1(S. pombe) homologue<br>Rad9(S. pombe) homologue<br>(Hus1(S. pombe) homologue)<br>(Rad17) | PCNA-like damage sensor<br>PCNA-like damage sensor<br>PCNA-like damage sensor<br>RFC-like damage sensor | AK074010<br>AK065579 |
|                             | ATM<br>ATR  | Ataxia telangiectasia<br>ATM-like kinase  | AK109634<br>AK110033 |

# 2.2. Plant DNA Repair Genes Identified by Genomics

The genome sequence generated by the Rice Genome Project and the results of the full-length cDNA Project have both been made public,<sup>21</sup> which has made the identification of DNA repair genes in the rice genome by database searches possible (for a summary, see Table 1).<sup>14</sup> The genes involved in DNA repair and recombination in *Arabidopsis* have also been made public in a database called DNAMETAB (http://www.ag.arizona.edu/dnametab/).

As shown in Table 1, plants possess homologues of most of the genes involved in the widely conserved DNA repair pathways such as nucleotide excision repair (NER) and base excision repair (BER). However, some of the genes involved in well-characterized DNA repair pathways are absent. The genes in parentheses in Table 1 were not found in the sequence information available for rice. For example, the genes involved in Fanconi anemia were not present, nor was *XPA* (xeroderma pigmentosum, complementation group A), which is involved in NER. *DNA polymerase*  $\beta$ , which is involved in BER, is also not found in plant genomes. The absence of these important genes suggests a basic difference in the mechanisms of DNA repair between plants and animals.

Several DNA repair-related genes are present in multiple copies in plant genomes. For example, there are three homologues of CSB (Cockayne syndrome, type B), which is involved in the transcription-coupled repair (TCR) of NER, three homologues of *RPA* (replication protein A), $2^{5-27}$  and two homologues of PCNA (proliferating cell nuclear antigen) and FEN-1 (Flap endonuclease-1)<sup>28</sup> which function in DNA repair and replication. Arabidopsis thaliana harbors a duplication of the XPB(AtRad25) homologue.<sup>29</sup> In general, plants contain more multiple gene copies than animals. Therefore, multiple copies of DNA repair genes may simply reflect this general trend. However, it may also be possible that the presence of multiple DNA repair alleles increases a plant's UV tolerance.<sup>29</sup> Moreover, without gene duplication, any functional differentiation would result in the loss of the original function and would thus limit the possibility of evolving more efficient repair systems, since there could be no allelic variation. In fact, our own data indicate that each of the three homologues of *RPA* has a different role.<sup>25-27</sup>

Several DNA repair genes that appear to be specific to plants, or that are limited to the *plantae* among the eukaryotes, were recognized in the completed genome sequences. The presence of these genes suggests plant-specific pathways of DNA repair, a topic of great interest.

#### 3. DNA Repair Pathways in Higher Plants

Recent research on the mechanisms of DNA repair has provided additional insights which will be described in the following sections.



**Figure 3.** Photoreactivation. Photolyases bind to pyrimidine dimers (CPDs or (6-4) photoproduct) and directly cleave the dimers using the energy of visible light.

#### 3.1. Photoreactivation

Photoreactivation is a mechanism of repair of UV-damaged DNA that is carried out by photolyases using the energy of visible light (Figure 3). Cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) and (6-4) photoproducts, both induced by UV irradiation, have thymine dimer structures that are directly cleaved by either CPD lyase or (6-4) phytolyase.

Photolyase genes have been identified in several plant species.<sup>30–36</sup> In Arabidopsis, the presence of both CPD photolyase and (6-4) photolyase was demonstrated by an analysis of UV-sensitive mutants.<sup>31-36</sup> In rice, a CPD photolyase gene was isolated by Hirouchi et al.37 No cDNA clone of the rice (6-4) photolyase has been isolated, but a homologue has been identified on chromosome 6. A lightdependent decrease of (6-4) photoproducts with time was observed by direct determination of DNA damage by the ELISA method, which indicated that (6-4) photolyases operate in rice.<sup>38</sup> The expression of photolyase genes in cucumber (CsPHR) was highest during morning light (9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.), and photoreactivation activity in cucumber leaves was highest during the afternoon (12:00 p.m. to 3:00 p.m.), when the plants received full sunshine.<sup>39</sup> These results suggested that photolyase expression was regulated to prevent the suppression of growth by UV irradiation.<sup>39</sup> It is also evident that the major pathway of DNA repair operating in nonproliferating organs, such as mature leaves, is photoreactivation.<sup>38</sup>



**Figure 4.** Nucleotide excision repair (NER). NER pathways can be classified into two groups, global genome repair (GGR) and transcription-coupled repair (TCR). The NER pathway consists of a series of reactions: recognition of DNA damage, unwinding double-stranded DNA in the neighborhood of the damage, excision of the damaged nucleotides, and filling the gap by DNA synthesis and ligation. The proteins in parentheses have not been found in plants. The proteins marked by asterisks are present in multiple copies.

Sensitivity to UV-B radiation varies widely among rice cultivars.<sup>40</sup> Differences in UV tolerance between the *Japonica* rice cultivar Nipponbare and the *Indica* rice cultivar Kasalath appear to be due to natural variation. The CPD photolyase gene contributes most to UV tolerance, as demonstrated by QTL (quantitative trait loci) analysis and map-based cloning.<sup>41,42</sup> There are also differences in UV tolerance between *Japonica* rice cultivars. For instance, cv. Norin 1 is less UV tolerant than cv. Sasanishiki, due to differences in the functioning of CDP photolyase.<sup>43</sup> These results suggest that allelic variation in the CPD photolyase gene is associated with different degrees of sensitivity to UV-B.<sup>40</sup>

## 3.2. Nucleotide Excision Repair (NER)

Nucleotide excision repair (NER) recognizes and repairs various types of DNA damage caused by UV irradiation, cisplatin, and other damaging agents. NER pathways can be classified as either global genome repair (GGR), which repairs DNA damage anywhere in the genome, or transcription-coupled repair (TCR), which specifically restores DNA strands that are being transcribed (Figure 4).

NER mechanisms rely on a series of reactions: recognition of DNA damage, unwinding double-strand DNA in the neighborhood of the damage, excision of the damaged nucleotides, and filling of the single-stranded gap by DNA synthesis (Figure 4). In GGR, DNA damage is recognized by XPC/Rad23 (xeroderma pigmentosum, complementation group C/Rad23) or UV-DDB (UV-damaged DNA binding protein). In contrast, during TCR, contact of the transcribing RNA polymerase II with damaged nucleotides triggers recognition of the DNA damage by the CSA (Cockayne syndrome, type A) or CSB (Cockayne syndrome, type B). The DNA region that contains the recognized damage is unwound by TFIIH (transcription factor IIH), including XPB (xeroderma pigmentosum, complementation group B), XPD (xeroderma pigmentosum, complementation group D), XPA (xeroderma pigmentosum, complementation group A), and RPA (replication protein A). Then, the structure-specific endonucleases XPF/ERCC1 (xeroderma pigmentosum, complementation group F/excision repair complementing defective repair in Chinese hamster 1) and XPG (xeroderma pigmentosum, complementation group G) excise oligonucleotides of about 20 to 30 bases containing the damaged part of the DNA. The gap formed by the excision is filled through PCNA (proliferating cell nuclear antigen) and RFC (replication factor C)-dependent DNA synthesis carried out by DNA polymerase  $\delta/\epsilon$ . NER is completed by rejoining the repaired DNA strand with DNA ligase I.

NER in plants has been studied mainly using Arabidopsis.44 NER-related genes were isolated by analysis of UVsensitive mutants (UVH).<sup>45</sup> The genes responsible for UVH1, UVH3, and UVH6 mutations were found to be XPF (AtRad1), XPG (AtRad2), and XPD (AtRad3), respectively.<sup>46-50</sup> In addition, the NER-related genes XPB (AtRad25), AtUV-DDB2, AtRad23, and ERCC1 (AtRad10) have been isolated from Arabidopsis.<sup>51–56</sup> The T-DNA insertion XPB (AtRad25) mutant showed retarded growth,57 and the T-DNA and RNAi mutants of UV-DDB2 developed dwarf phenotypes.<sup>51</sup> These results stressed the important role of DNA repair in growth and development. An ERCC1 (AtRad10) mutant of Arabidopsis was sensitive to  $\gamma$  irradiation,<sup>52</sup> an XPB (AtRad25) mutant was sensitive to hydrogen peroxide and MMS (methyl methanesulfonate),57 and XPG (AtRad2) mutants were sensitive to hydrogen peroxide and ionizing radiation.<sup>47</sup> The involvement of XPF (AtRad1) in the repair of oxidatively damaged DNA was demonstrated by an in vitro DNA repair assay using cell extracts of Arabidopsis.58 Moreover, XPF (AtRad1) and ERCC1 (AtRad10) have key roles in homologous recombination.59,60 From these results, it can be concluded that NER is involved in the repair of a number of different types of DNA damage in plants. The NER-related genes UV-DDB,<sup>61</sup> FEN-1,<sup>28,62,63</sup> PCNA,<sup>62</sup> DNA polymerase  $\delta$ , <sup>64</sup> RPA, <sup>27</sup> and CSB<sup>38</sup> have been isolated and characterized in rice. It is apparent, then, that plant NER is essentially, but not entirely, the same as NER in animals. However, though XPA is not found in plants, multiple homologues of CSB are present (Table 1). This indicates subtle but potentially important differences between the mechanisms of DNA repair in plants and animals.

The Arabidopsis UV-DDB1 enzyme, which recognizes DNA damage in GGR, was shown to form a CDD complex with COP10 (constitutive photomorphogenic 10) and DET1 (de-etiolated 1), which are negative regulators of photomorphogenesis.<sup>65,66</sup> COP10 was reported to enhance the activity of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes, thus promoting the ubiquitination of proteins.<sup>65</sup> Moreover, UV-DDB1 assembles DET1, COP1, Cullin 4A, and Roc1 (regulator of Cullins-1) to regulate c-Jun ubiquitination in mammals.<sup>67</sup> Thus, UV-DDB1 is probably involved in the regulation of ubiquitin/proteasome-mediated proteolysis. The ubiquitin/proteasome-



**Figure 5.** Base excision repair (BER). DNA damage such as oxidative DNA damage, deamination of DNA bases, or apurinic/ apyrimidinic sites (AP site) is corrected by base excision repair (BER). DNA glycosylases initiate this process by releasing the damaged base through cleavage of the sugar-phosphate chain and excision of the abasic residue or of the abasic residue containing oligonucleotides, followed by DNA synthesis and ligation. There are two subpathways for BER. Short-patch BER is *DNA polymerase*  $\beta$ -dependent, while long-patch BER is *DNA polymerase*  $\delta/\epsilon$ -dependent. The proteins in parentheses are not found in plants. Proteins marked by asterisks are present in multiple copies.

mediated proteolysis has a number of central roles in cellular processes, including cell cycle control and the regulation of transcription.<sup>65,66,68–71</sup> Thus, NER-related genes might function in a wide range of cellular events in addition to DNA repair.

#### 3.3. Base Excision Repair (BER)

Reactive oxygen species from endogenous and environmental sources induce oxidative damage to DNA. Deamination of DNA bases can occur spontaneously, generating highly mutagenic modifications of DNA bases into uracil, hypoxanthine, and xanthine, which are corrected by base excision repair (BER) (Figure 5). AP sites (apurinic/ apyrimidinic) are also thought to be repaired by this pathway. BER is initiated by the removal of the damaged base(s), which is mediated by DNA glycosylase. The AP site formed by the removal reaction is incised by AP endonuclease. Some DNA glycosylases are known to have AP endonuclease activity. There are two pathways known for the DNA synthesis following the incision: long-patch BER, in which DNA is synthesized by *DNA polymerase*  $\delta/\epsilon$ , and short-patch BER, in which synthesis is catalyzed by *DNA polymerase*  $\beta$ . In long-patch BER, PCNA and FEN-1 act in coordination with *DNA polymerase*  $\delta/\epsilon$  in the synthesis of relatively long DNA chains, which are eventually ligated by DNA ligase I. In the case of short-patch BER, the 5'-dRP residue is removed by the dRP lyase activity of *DNA polymerase*  $\beta$ . DNA chains are then joined by DNA ligase III/XRCC1 (X-ray repair complementing defective in Chinese hamster 1) to complete the repair.

BER in plants, including the presence of uracil-DNA glycosylase, was demonstrated in a study using carrot cells.<sup>72,73</sup> The cDNA of 3-methyladenine glycosylase, one of the DNA glycosylases, was first isolated from Arabidopsis<sup>74</sup> and was found to be strongly expressed in developing tissues.<sup>75</sup> Several additional types of DNA glycosylases have since been isolated and characterized.<sup>76–81</sup> In addition, homologues of DNA polymerase  $\delta$  and FEN-1, which are involved in BER, have been isolated.<sup>28,63,64</sup> Ten types of DNA glycosylases and three types of AP endonucleases were identified in the rice genome (Table 1). Though XRCC1 was present, DNA ligase III, which probably forms a complex with XRCC1 in animal systems, was absent. Similarly, DNA polymerase  $\beta$ , which is assumed to be essential in shortpatch BER, has not yet been found in any plant genome (Table 1). On the other hand, *DNA polymerase*  $\lambda$ , which belongs to the same family as DNA polymerase  $\beta$ , seems to be present,<sup>82,83</sup> suggesting that *DNA polymerase*  $\lambda$  may serve the same function as DNA polymerase  $\beta$  in plant short-patch BER.

Recently it was demonstrated that DEMETER, a DNA glycosylase domain protein, was required for endosperm gene imprinting and seed variability in *Arabidopsis*,<sup>84</sup> likely because of its role in transcriptional regulation of the gene required for gene imprinting.<sup>85</sup> Furthermore, the repressor of transcriptional gene silencing in *Arabidopsis*, ROS1, encodes a DNA glycosylase/lyase.<sup>86</sup> Thus, as for the case of NER, some of the genes involved in BER have functions in addition to DNA repair.

#### 3.4. Mismatch Repair (MMR)

Mismatch repair (MMR) restores the correct match in mismatched base pairs formed by incorporation of an incorrect base by DNA polymerase or during recombination. The template DNA chain, which has the correct sequence, is methylated and can be distinguished from the unmethylated, newly synthesized strand. In *E. coli*, MutS and MutL recognize a mismatch, and MutH introduces a nick on the new, nonmethylated strand. Exonuclease removes the newly formed chain, DNA polymerase fills the gap, and DNA ligase rejoins the DNA. Numerous homologues of MutS and MutL are present in eukaryotes, and MMR is regarded as an important path of DNA repair. However, several steps in eukaryotic MMR are not yet understood, including the mechanism of recognition of the newly formed DNA strand.

*MSH* genes, which are homologues of *E. coli MutS*, have been isolated from plants, mostly from *Arabidopsis*.<sup>87–90</sup> *Mus1* and *Mus2*, homologues of *MutS*, were isolated from *Zea mays*. <sup>91</sup> *MLH1*, a homologue of *MutL*, was also isolated from *Arabidopsis*.<sup>92</sup> The MSH2/MSH6 and MSH2/MSH7



**Figure 6.** Double-strand break repair (DSB repair). DSBs are rapidly repaired in cells either by homologous recombination (HR) or nonhomologous end-joining (NHEJ). HR is a repair process carried out through the recombination of homologous DNA regions. In NHEJ, the ends of the severed chains are joined directly. The proteins in parentheses are not found in plants.

complexes in *Arabidopsis* recognize different nucleotide mismatches <sup>88,93</sup> The presence of multiple *MutS* homologues may increase the range of recognized mismatches. Involvement of *MSH2* in the maintenance of stability of the *Arabidopsis* genome has also been reported.<sup>94</sup> Rapid accumulation of mutations during seed-to-seed propagation was observed in *MSH2* mutants of *Arabidopsis*.<sup>95</sup> The *AtMSH2* mutant lines rapidly accumulated a wide variety of mutations and had abnormalities in morphology and development, fertility, germination efficiency, seed/silique development, and seed set. These results clearly indicated that crippling MMR has pleiotropic effects, likely due to the accumulation of uncorrected mismatch events and the concomitant loss of many normal cellular functions.

### 3.5. Double-Strand Break Repair (DSB Repair)

External effects, such as ionizing radiation and chemical substances, and internal factors, such as errors during DNA replication, can induce DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs). DSB is a very severe type of DNA damage which can jeopardize the survival of the organism. DSBs are rapidly repaired in cells by either of two mechanisms: homologous recombination (HR) or nonhomologous end-joining (NHEJ) (Figure 6).<sup>96–99</sup>

HR is a repair process that uses the recombination of homologous DNA regions (Figure 6). An intact copy of the damaged region, which may be located on a sister chromatid or a homologous chromosome, is used as a template to repair the damage. In the synthesis-dependent strand annealing mechanism (SDSA; Figure 6, left), single-stranded DNA is formed by the action of the Mre11/Rad50/Xrs2 (meiotic recombination11/Rad50/X-ray sensitive 2) complex at DSB sites. Recombination is mediated by RecA homologues such as Rad51. A Holliday structure formed during recombination is incised by nucleases and dissociates into two DNA chains. However, the process of dissociation is not well understood in eukaryotic organisms. In the DSB repair mediated by NHEJ, Ku70/Ku80 recognizes the ends formed by DSBs. Then, DNA-PKcs (DNA-dependent protein kinase) binds to these ends. Finally, Xrcc4 (X-ray repair complementing defective repair in Chinese hamster cells 4)/DNA ligase IV joins the two ends to complete the repair (Figure 6, right). In NHEJ, the ends of the severed chains are joined directly and deletions or insertions can occur (Figure 6, right).

Higher plants are generally more tolerant to ionizing radiation than mammals, and it has been suggested that radiation tolerance is due not only to a lower induction of DNA damage but also to more efficient repair of the induced DSBs.<sup>100</sup> Information on mechanisms of DSB repair in higher

plants is mainly from studies in Arabidopsis.97,101,102 AtRad51,<sup>103-108</sup> AtRad50,<sup>109,110</sup> and AtMre11,<sup>111</sup> which are all involved in HR, have been isolated and analyzed. Differing requirements for the activities of Arabidopsis AtRad51 paralogues in DNA repair and meiosis have been observed.<sup>104,106</sup> In addition to Rad51, rice and Arabidopsis possess the genes OsRadA and AtRadA, respectively, which have a high degree of homology with RadA/Sms, a eubacterial homologue of RecA.<sup>112</sup> These genes, too, may have a functional role in HR. AtKu70, AtKu80, Arabidopsis DNA *ligase IV*, and *AtXRCC4* are involved in NHEJ and have been isolated and analyzed in plants.<sup>113-116</sup> Because mutations in these genes introduced sensitivity to ionizing radiation, they are thought to play key roles in DSB repair. 113-116 Furthermore, telomere lengthening in AtKu80 mutants suggests that one function of AtKu80 is the maintenance of telomere length.117

It remains unclear how a particular repair pathway, HR or NHEJ, is activated and how the two pathways are regulated when a DSB occurs. In yeast, most DSBs are repaired through HR, while in humans NHEJ is predominant.<sup>96–99,118</sup> In this respect, plants are more like animals than yeasts, but the relative activity of plant HR seems to be much lower than that of animals.<sup>96,97,118–122</sup> The *Arabidopsis* plant line with the loss of function mutant homologue of *Rad51*, AtRad51, exhibits normal vegetative and flower development and has no detectable mitotic abnormality.<sup>106</sup> Also, the Arabidopsis line carrying the MRE11 allele is viable, though it exhibits growth defects and is infertile.<sup>111</sup> These results suggest that the HR pathway is not essential for vegetative plant growth. INO80, a member of the SWI/SNF ATPase family, was shown to control HR in Arabidopsis.<sup>123</sup> The mutant line affected in the expression of INO80 showed a reduction in HR frequency.<sup>123</sup> Species-dependent differences in the repair of DSBs in plants have been reported.<sup>124</sup> HR was shown to be influenced by temperature and day-length.<sup>125</sup> In addition, multiple sub-pathways seem to be part of the plant HR pathway. Thus, DSB repair appears to be quite complex.<sup>96,97,101,126-130</sup>

The differences in DSB repair between animals, yeast, and plants and also between plant species may contribute to the evolution of genomes.<sup>97,101,131,132</sup> In NHEJ, deletions and/or insertions can take place when DNA chains are joined. HR (SDSA) is most likely to provide an error-free repair, as DNA is repaired by using a homologous DNA region. When a homologous DNA region, such as a sister chromatid, is not used for HR, homologous sequences proximal to the DSB can be interposed, leading to sequence deletions (SSA, single-strand annealing mechanism; Figure 6). Therefore, the relative frequency of occurrence of these DSB repair pathways may influence the rate of genomic evolution.<sup>97,101</sup>

Two NER-related genes, *AtXPF* and *At*ERCC1, were also shown to be involved in plant DSB repair.<sup>52,59,60</sup> The two proteins encoded by these genes form a complex which functions as a structure-specific endonuclease. In NER, it incises DNA strands on the 5'-end side of the damage (Figure 4). In HR, XPF/ERCC1 is probably involved in the removal of nonhomologous tails. The analysis of a mutant with a high frequency of HR led to the isolation of CENTRIN2 (caltractin-like protein).<sup>133</sup> The CENTRIN2 mutant showed changes in the expression profiles of genes involved in DNA repair pathways such as NER. These findings indicate an interconnection between the early steps of NER and HR.

Replicative DNA polymerase



**Figure 7.** Trans lesion synthesis (TLS). When DNA damage blocks the DNA synthesis mediated by replicative DNA polymerases (*DNA polymerase*  $\delta/\epsilon$ ), an exchange of DNA polymerases takes place. In this case, TLS DNA polymerases, such as *DNA polymerases*  $\zeta$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\iota$ , and  $\kappa$  and *Rev1*, synthesize DNA to overcome the DNA damage. The proteins in parentheses are not found in plants. Proteins marked by asterisks are present in multiple copies.

Gene knockout mutagenesis by gene targeting is extremely difficult in plants,<sup>118,134–136</sup> and there are few successful cases.<sup>137</sup> This lack of success has been interpreted to be due to the low frequency of HR in plant cells. To make gene targeting more successful in plants, homologous recombination has been stimulated in plant cells by overexpression of recombination genes such as *RecA*, *RuvC*, *RecQ*, *Rad54*, *and Zinc-finger* nucleases.<sup>118,134–136,138–143</sup> If the frequency of HR can be raised by controlling DSB repair, the useful technique of gene targeting could become practicable in plants.

# 3.6. Trans Lesion Synthesis (TLS)

Trans lesion synthesis (TLS) is a newly discovered pathway of DNA repair (Figure 7). When UV-induced DNA damage cannot be adequately corrected by DNA repair processes such as NER and the DNA synthesis mediated by DNA polymerases of the DNA replication type (DNA *polymerase*  $\delta/\epsilon$ ) is halted at the site of DNA damage, an exchange of DNA polymerases takes place. In this case, DNA polymerases  $\zeta$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\iota$ ,  $\kappa$ , and Rev1 (Reversionless 1) synthesize DNA to overcome the DNA damage. These DNA polymerases have been identified only recently, but it is known that the fidelity of these DNA polymerases varies. When a low-fidelity DNA polymerase cannot insert a correct base into the site opposite to the damaged base, an incorrect base might be inserted resulting in a base substitution point mutation. However, the details of TLS, including how the multiple DNA polymerases are used, are not clear in any organism. Studies are currently underway to elucidate this intriguing type of DNA repair.

The gene responsible for the UV-sensitive *Arabidopsis* mutant (rev3-1) obtained by ion beam mutagenesis was shown to encode a catalytic subunit of *DNA polymerase*  $\xi$ .<sup>144</sup> In addition to UV sensitivity, this mutant was sensitive to  $\gamma$  irradiation and mitomycin C (a cross-linking agent). Furthermore, the elongation of roots was suppressed by UV

irradiation, and the incorporation of BrdU after UV irradiation was decreased compared to the case of the wild type. These observations are the first report of TLS in plants and suggest the involvement of *DNA polymerase*  $\zeta$  in TLS. Similarly, *DNA polymerase*  $\kappa$  (*AtPol* $\kappa$ ) was identified in *Arabidopsis*<sup>145</sup> and thought to be involved in TLS. *AtPol* $\kappa$ was able to extend primer-terminal mispairs. It is interesting that *AtPol* $\kappa$  was expressed in endoreduplicating cells, indicating a possible role in this process. In addition, the *Arabidopsis* homologues of *REV7* (*AtREV1*, subunit of *DNA polymerase*  $\zeta$ ) and *REV1* (*AtREV1*) were isolated and shown to be involved in TLS and to have important roles in tolerance against DNA damaging agents.<sup>146</sup>

TLS-associated genes, including *DNA polymerases*  $\zeta$ ,  $\eta$ , and  $\kappa$  and *Rev1*, have been found in the genomes of rice (Table 1) and *Arabidopsis*. The presence of these genes suggests the possibility of DNA repair by the trans lesion mechanism in plants.

#### 3.7. Interstrand Cross-link Repair (ICL Repair)

Interstrand cross-links (ICLs) are a highly toxic form of DNA damage.<sup>147,148</sup> ICLs can be induced by bifunctional alkylating agents such as nitrogen mustard and mitomycin C. Numerous genes are involved in the repair of ICLs.<sup>147–149</sup> ICL repair involves proteins that also act in NER<sup>148,149</sup> and HR.<sup>149,150</sup> *Snm1* (sensitive to nitrogen mustard) is thought to function specifically in ICL repair. It was first identified in yeast by screening for mutants sensitive to nitrogen mustard.<sup>151,152</sup> *Snm1* proteins are nuclear proteins<sup>153,154</sup> and have 5'-exonuclease activity.<sup>155</sup> Thus, *Snm1* appears to be involved in processing intermediate structures of the ICL repair mechanism.

Recently, the *Arabidopsis* and rice homologues of *Snm1* (*AtSNM1* and *OsSnm1*) were identified and characterized.<sup>156,157</sup> Interestingly, *AtSNM1*-deficient mutants were not hypersensitive to mitomycin C (MMC), but showed a moderate sensitivity to bleomycin and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. The mutants exhibited a delayed repair of oxidative DNA damage and did not show any increase in the frequency of somatic homologous recombination with exposure to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. These results suggest the existence in plants of *Snm1*-dependent recombinational repair processes of oxidatively induced DNA damage.<sup>157</sup>

#### 4. DNA Repair Genes Specific to Plants

A search of the rice and Arabidopsis genomes indicated the presence of DNA repair genes that were unknown from animals and yeast. DNA endonucleases belonging to the Rad2 nuclease family have key roles in processes of DNA repair such as NER. Rad2 family nucleases can be grouped into three classes: class I (XPG), class II (FEN-1), and class III (ExoI). Several genes belonging to these families have been studied in plants.<sup>28,47,62,63,158-160</sup> We identified a new nuclease with endonuclease activity on ssDNA that did not fit into any of these classes, and we designated it OsSEND-1 (Oryza sativa single-stranded DNA endonuclease-1).<sup>159</sup> Its amino acid sequence was similar to, but shorter than, that of XPG. As rice and Arabidopsis possess XPG homologues different from OsSEND-1, the latter was considered to be a new gene, which is unique to plants. Overexpression of OsSEND-1 was increased by UV irradiation and MMS (methyl methanesulfonate) treatment, <sup>161</sup> indicating that OsSEND-1 is involved in DNA repair.161

RecA catalyses strand exchange reactions in prokaryotes and is involved in repair and recombination of DNA. Eukaryotic organisms possess the *RecA* homologues *Rad51* and *Dmc1*. Rad51 functions in both somatic and meiotic cells, while Dmc1 acts specifically in meiotic cells. *RadA/ Sms* is a highly conserved eubacterial protein with homology to *RecA*.<sup>162,163</sup> We identified a gene that has a high degree of homology to *RadA/Sms* in the rice genome and named it *OsRadA* (*Oryza sativa* RadA).<sup>112</sup> In addition to *OsRadA*, rice also carries *Rad51* and *Dmc1*. The presence of *RadA* homologues appears limited to plants among eukaryotic organisms. OsRadA is located in the cell nucleus and has strand exchange activity. *OsRadA* RNAi mutants are sensitive to UV and MMS. These results suggest that *OsRadA*, too, is involved in DNA repair in plants.

Among the many uncharacterized plant-specific genes that are present in the genomes of plants, there may be many more genes involved in uncharacterized DNA repair pathways. Moreover, the multiplicity of DNA repair genes in plants also suggests plant-specific mechanisms of DNA repair. The functions of these genes will have to be scrutinized to provide a full understanding of these mechanisms.

### 5. DNA Repair in Organelles

Chloroplasts and mitochondria have their own DNA and systems of DNA repair and replication. Given the hypothesis that these organelles have prokaryotic origins, the repair and replication of DNA in chloroplasts and mitochondria of plants may be quite different from nuclear mechanisms. Because of their critical role in the production of photosynthate and energy for the cell, it would be useful to fully understand the unique as well as the common features of DNA repair in the non-nuclear genomes.

# 5.1. DNA Repair and Replication in Chloroplasts

The photosynthetic apparatus in chloroplasts is one of the largest sources of reactive oxygen species produced by UV irradiation. Chloroplast DNA repair mechanisms and the stabilization of the chloroplast genome are mostly obscure.

We succeeded in isolating a new plastidal DNA polymerase gene.<sup>164</sup> This gene was named OsPolI-like (Oryza sativa DNA polymerase I-like DNA polymerase), as it has a high degree of homology to DNA polymerase I of cyanobacteria. Fractionation of subcellular components and analysis of transient expression of a GFP fusion protein showed that OsPolI-like was localized in plastids.<sup>164,165</sup> OsPolI-like was actively expressed in the meristems of shoot apexes, root apexes, and leaf primordia. In these tissues, plastids are present as undifferentiated proplastids. Plastids develop into chloroplasts in leaves. In roots and tubers, plastids differentiate into amyloplasts which store starch. Replication of plastid DNA is activated as the first step in the process of chloroplast differentiation. After an increase in the number of copies of the plastid genome, the plastids divide and photosynthetic activities commence. The active expression of OsPoll-like coincides with the period of plastid genome replication, indicating that OsPolI-like is involved either in DNA replication or in the repair of errors occurring during replication.

RPA (replication protein A) is composed of three subunits of 70, 32, and 14 kDa. It binds to and stabilizes ssDNA formed during DNA repair processes such as NER.<sup>166</sup> Only



Figure 8. Overview of DNA repair in plants. Photoreactivation is the major DNA repair pathway in nonproliferating cells, while excision repair (nucleotide excision repair and base excision repair) is active in proliferating cells.

one kind of RPA exists in animals and yeast. In contrast, the nuclear genomes of rice and *Arabidopsis* possess three types of RPA.<sup>25,27</sup> Two were localized in nuclei while the third appeared to be specific to chloroplasts.<sup>25–27</sup> These findings suggest that copies of RPA assumed different functions in the organelles following multiplication of the original gene.

DNA polymerase, DNA primase, DNA topoisomerase, DNA helicase, and structure-specific endonuclease proteins have been purified from chloroplasts of higher plants and have been characterized.<sup>167–172</sup> A RecA homologue and DNA gyrase were also shown to be localized in chloroplasts and mitochondria in *Arabidopsis*,<sup>173,174</sup> and many genes that have homology to prokaryotic DNA-metabolizing enzymes are present in the rice genome. It is probable that some of them are located in the chloroplast and are involved in DNA replication and repair.

#### 5.2. DNA Repair and Replication in Mitochondria

The mechanisms of repair of mitochondrial DNA are mostly unclear in animals and yeast, as well as in plants. The presence of DNA helicase, RecA, and DNA gyrase in plant mitochondria has been reported.<sup>173,175,176</sup> DNA polymerase  $\gamma$ , which is a mitochondrial DNA polymerase in animals, is not found in plant genomes. Numerous genes that encode proteins which may function in mitochondrial DNA repair are present in plant genomes. In *Arabidopsis*, these genes are clustered on chromosome 3.<sup>177</sup> Similar gene clusters also exist in rice.<sup>177</sup> Some of the repair genes for plastid DNA are included in these clusters. These observations indicate correlations in the evolution of DNA repair gene families for mitochondria and chloroplasts.

# 6. Relationship between DNA Repair and Cell Proliferation

In our study on the expression of DNA repair genes and localization of proteins in plants, we found a close association between excision repair and cell proliferation.<sup>38</sup> Analyses of the expression patterns of DNA repair genes in rice showed that while photolyase is expressed in mature leaves, the genes

involved in excision repair (NER and BER) are expressed predominantly in the proliferating meristems of shoot and root apexes. It was unexpected that the genes for excision repair were not expressed in mature leaves, which receive significant doses of UV radiation. Similarly, expression of these genes in the root apex, which is sheltered from light, seemed odd. In addition, analysis of expression patterns of DNA repair genes using oligo-DNA microarrays demonstrated that photolyase is expressed in mature leaves, while most of the excision repair genes are strongly expressed in shoot apexes (Figure 8).<sup>38</sup> These results suggest that the expression of genes involved in excision repair is associated with cell proliferation (Figure 8).<sup>38</sup> Furthermore, the gene for 3-methyladenine glycosylase, which is involved in BER, is also expressed in proliferating tissues.75 In vivo DNA repair assays of the photoreactivation and dark reactivation in nonproliferating tissues (mature leaves) and proliferating tissues (root apexes) showed that photoreactivation is the major pathway of DNA repair in nonproliferating tissues, whereas photoreactivation as well as dark repair are active in proliferating tissues (Figure 8).<sup>38</sup>

In plants, cells proliferate only in meristems. In addition, plant germ cells are differentiated from meristematic tissue in later stages of development, as opposed to the case for animals, where the germ cell line is continuous throughout development. As a result, mutations generated in shoot apical meristems have a high probability of genetic continuity.<sup>8</sup> Therefore, high fidelity is required from DNA repair in shoot apical meristems. The results described above may suggest that this is indeed the case: genes involved in excision repair have key roles in the maintenance of genomic integrity in active meristems.

Endoreduplication is the major mechanism leading to somatic polyploidisation in plants and can be found in many cell types, especially in those undergoing differentiation and expansion, though cells proliferate (giving a daughter cell) only in meristems. <sup>178–180</sup> Endoreduplication occurs when cells re-replicate chromosomes in the absence of mitosis, and about 30% of the resultant cells are polyploid. It would be interesting to know the relationship between DNA repair and endoreduplication, because many DNA repair genes may be

involved in endoreduplication, and endoreduplication could provide a template for homologous recombination.

# 7. Application of Studies of DNA Repair to Breeding of UV Resistant Plants

The depletion of the ozone layer became evident as the so-called ozone hole expanded over the Antarctic in the 1980s. The total amount of atmospheric ozone has continued to decrease, and the concomitant increase in the level of UV radiation (especially UV-B) on the surface of the earth has become a serious problem.<sup>8,161,181</sup> Although harmful effects of UV on animals, such as the induction of skin cancer, cause serious concern, the adverse effects of UV on plants have not been adequately recognized. The harmful effects of UV irradiation on plants include suppression of growth, lowering of yield, browning and chlorosis of the leaf, and thickening of the leaf. Further increases in UV irradiation may cause serious food shortages, if food production and quality are decreased by the deterioration of the environment.

Genetic engineering could out-compete traditional methods of breeding, as the former can introduce useful characters to plants in a short period. Thus, the practice and acceptance of molecular approaches to plant improvement may help to prevent food shortages in the future. The introduction and contingent expression of DNA repair genes in plant cells by genetic engineering may lead to improved DNA repair activities and to the breeding of UV-tolerant lines.<sup>161</sup>

In one of the ultraviolet-B-resistant mutants (*uvi1*) of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, the improved UV tolerance was due to enhanced transcription of *CPD photolyase* and enhanced capacity for dark repair of (6–4) photoproducts.<sup>182</sup> A UV-hyperresistant rice plant was produced by overexpression of CPD photolyase.<sup>41</sup> The UV tolerance of rice was improved by overexpression of the DNA repair genes *UV-DDB2* and *OsSEND-1*.<sup>161</sup> Thus, it is possible in principle to increase UV tolerance by the increased expression of a DNA repair gene. These examples provide encouragement for our attempts to improve UV resistance by a genetic engineering approach.

#### 8. Concluding Remarks

Despite the recent progress reviewed in this paper, the study of DNA repair and UV tolerance in higher plants is still in an early phase. Understanding DNA repair in higher plants is not only interesting from a purely biological viewpoint but is also likely to make a significant contribution to the solution of impending social and environmental problems.

#### 9. Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the members of the Plant Research Group (Shokubutsu-ka) of K.S.'s lab, past and present, for their contributions to this research. We thank Dr. Junji Hashimoto and Dr. Y. Yanagawa for helpful discussions and collaboration. Our work was supported by a grant from the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of Japan (Rice Genome Project IP-5006) and by a grant from the Ministry of Education, Science, Sports and Culture of Japan (Grantin-Aid for Young Scientists (B, 15770031). This work was also supported by a grant from Futaba Electronics Memorial Foundation (Japan), the Asahi Glass Foundation (Japan), and the Sumitomo Foundation (Japan). S.K. was supported by the TOYOBO Biotechnology Foundation (Japan).

#### 10. References

- Schmitz-Hoerner, R.; Weissenbock, G. Phytochemistry 2003, 64, 243.
   Solovchenko, A.; Merzlyak, M. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 2003, 2, 861.
- (3) Solovchenko, A.; Schmitz-Eiberger, M. J. Exp. Bot. 2003, 54, 1977.
- (4) Wilson, K. E.; Thompson, J. E.; Huner, N. P.; Greenberg, B. M. Photochem. Photobiol. 2001, 73, 678.
- (5) Mazza, C. A.; Boccalandro, H. E.; Giordano, C. V.; Battista, D.; Scopel, A. L.; Ballare, C. L. *Plant Physiol.* 2000, *122*, 117.
- (6) Kootstra, A. Plant Mol. Biol. 1994, 26, 771.
- (7) Middleton, E. M.; Teramura, A. H. *Plant Physiol.* **1993**, *103*, 741. (8) Ries, G.; Heller, W.; Puchta, H.; Sandermann, H.; Seidlitz, H. K.;
- Hohn, B. Nature 2000, 406, 98.
  (9) Staplenton, A. E.; Thornber C., S.; Walbot, V. Plant Cell Environ.
- **1997**, 20, 279. (10) Gao W · Zheng Y · Slusser J R · Heisler G M · Grant R H ·
- (10) Gao, W.; Zheng, Y.; Slusser, J. R.; Heisler, G. M.; Grant, R. H.; Xu, J.; He, D. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **2004**, *80*, 127.
  (11) Gaberscik, A.; Voncina, M.; Trost, T.; Germ, M.; Olof Bjorn, L. J
- Photochem. Photobiol. B 2002, 66, 30.
- (12) Day, T. A.; Ruhland, C. T.; Xiong, F. S. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 2001, 62, 78.
- (13) Xiong, F. S.; Day, T. A. Plant Physiol. 2001, 125, 738.
- (14) Kimura, S.; Ishibashi, T.; Yamamoto, T.; Sakaguchi, K. Seikagaku 2005, 77, 113.
- (15) Hays, J. B. DNA Repair 2002, 1, 579.
- (16) Tuteja, N.; Singh, M. B.; Misra, M. K.; Bhalla, P. L.; Tuteja, R. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 2001, 36, 337.
- (17) Britt, A. B. Plant Physiol. 1995, 108, 891.
- (18) Vonarx, E. J.; Mitchell, H. L.; Karthikeyan, R.; Chatterjee, I.; Kunz, B. A. Mutat. Res. 1998, 400, 187.
- (19) Initiative, T. A. G. Nature 2000, 408, 796.
- (20) Sasaki, T.; Matsumoto, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Sakata, K.; Baba, T.; Katayose, Y.; Wu, J.; Niimura, Y.; Cheng, Z.; Nagamura, Y.; Antonio, B. A.; Kanamori, H.; Hosokawa, S.; Masukawa, M.; Arikawa, K.; Chiden, Y.; Hayashi, M.; Okamoto, M.; Ando, T.; Aoki, H.; Arita, K.; Hamada, M.; Harada, C.; Hijishita, S.; Honda, M.; Ichikawa, Y.; Idonuma, A.; Iijima, M.; Ikeda, M.; Ikeno, M.; Ito, S.; Ito, T.; Ito, Y.; Iwabuchi, A.; Kamiya, K.; Karasawa, W.; Katagiri, S.; Kikuta, A.; Kobayashi, N.; Kono, I.; Machita, K.; Maehara, T.; Mizuno, H.; Mizubayashi, T.; Mukai, Y.; Nagasaki, H.; Nakashima, M.; Nakama, Y.; Nakamichi, Y.; Nakamura, M.; Namiki, N.; Negishi, M.; Ohta, I.; Ono, N.; Saji, S.; Sakai, K.; Shibata, M.; Shimokawa, T.; Shomura, A.; Song, J.; Takazaki, Y.; Terasawa, K.; Tsuji, K.; Waki, K.; Yamagata, H.; Yamane, H.; Yoshiki, S.; Yoshihara, R.; Yukawa, K.; Zhong, H.; Iwama, H.; Endo, T.; Ito, H.; Hahn, J. H.; Kim, H. I.; Eun, M. Y.; Yano, M.; Jiang, J.; Gojobori, T. *Nature* **2002**, *420*, 312.
- (21) Kikuchi, S.; Satoh, K.; Nagata, T.; Kawagashira, N.; Doi, K.; Kishimoto, N.; Yazaki, J.; Ishikawa, M.; Yamada, H.; Ooka, H.; Hotta, I.; Kojima, K.; Namiki, T.; Ohneda, E.; Yahagi, W.; Suzuki, K.; Li, C. J.; Ohtsuki, K.; Shishiki, T.; Otomo, Y.; Murakami, K.; Iida, Y.; Sugano, S.; Fujimura, T.; Suzuki, Y.; Tsunoda, Y.; Kurosaki, T.; Kodama, T.; Masuda, H.; Kobayashi, M.; Xie, Q.; Lu, M.; Narikawa, R.; Sugiyama, A.; Mizuno, K.; Yokomizo, S.; Niikura, J.; Ikeda, R.; Ishibiki, J.; Kawamata, M.; Yoshimura, A.; Miura, J.; Kusumegi, T.; Oka, M.; Ryu, R.; Ueda, M.; Matsubara, K.; Kawai, J.; Carninci, P.; Adachi, J.; Aizawa, K.; Arakawa, T.; Fukuda, S.; Hara, A.; Hashizume, W.; Hayatsu, N.; Imotani, K.; Ishii, Y.; Itoh, M.; Kagawa, I.; Kondo, S.; Konno, H.; Miyazaki, A.; Osato, N.; Ota, Y.; Saito, R.; Sasaki, D.; Sato, K.; Shibata, K.; Shinagawa, A.; Shiraki, T.; Yoshino, M.; Hayashizaki, Y.; Yasunishi, A. *Science* 2003, 301, 376.
- (22) Shimamoto, K. Science 1995, 270, 1772.
- (23) Ashikari, M.; Sakakibara, H.; Lin, S.; Yamamoto, T.; Takashi, T.; Nishimura, A.; Angeles, E. R.; Qian, Q.; Kitano, H.; Matsuoka, M. *Science* **2005**, *309*, 741.
- (24) Hirochika, H.; Guiderdoni, E.; An, G.; Hsing, Y. I.; Eun, M. Y.; Han, C. D.; Upadhyaya, N.; Ramachandran, S.; Zhang, Q.; Pereira, A.; Sundaresan, V.; Leung, H. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **2004**, *54*, 325.
- (25) Ishibashi, T.; Kimura, S.; Sakaguch, K. J. Biochemistry, in press.
- (26) Ishibashi, T.; Koga, A.; Yamamoto, T.; Uchiyama, Y.; Mori, Y.; Hashimoto, J.; Kimura, S.; Sakaguchi, K. FEBS J. 2005, 272, 3270.
- (27) Ishibashi, T.; Kimura, S.; Furukawa, T.; Hatanaka, M.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. Gene 2001, 272, 335.
- (28) Kimura, S.; Furukawa, T.; Kasai, N.; Mori, Y.; Kitamoto, H. K.; Sugawara, F.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. *Gene* **2003**, *314*, 63.
- (29) Morgante, P. G.; Berra, C. M.; Nakabashi, M.; Costa, R. M.; Menck, C. F.; Van Sluys, M. A. *Gene* **2005**, *344C*, 93.

- (30) Yoshihara, R.; Imaki, T.; Hori, M.; Watanabe, C.; Yamamoto, K.; Takimoto, K. J. Radiat. Res. (Tokyo) 2005, 46, 157.
- (31) Waterworth, W. M.; Jiang, Q.; West, C. E.; Nikaido, M.; Bray, C. M. J. Exp. Bot. 2002, 53, 1005.
- (32) Nakajima, S.; Sugiyama, M.; Iwai, S.; Hitomi, K.; Otoshi, E.; Kim, S. T.; Jiang, C. Z.; Todo, T.; Britt, A. B.; Yamamoto, K. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1998**, *26*, 638.
- (33) Jiang, C. Z.; Yee, J.; Mitchell, D. L.; Britt, A. B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1997, 94, 7441.
- (34) Landry, L. G.; Stapleton, A. E.; Lim, J.; Hoffman, P.; Hays, J. B.; Walbot, V.; Last, R. L. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1997, 94, 328.
- (35) Ahmad, M.; Jarillo, J. A.; Klimczak, L. J.; Landry, L. G.; Peng, T.; Last, R. L.; Cashmore, A. R. *Plant Cell* **1997**, *9*, 199.
- (36) Batschauer, A. Plant J. 1993, 4, 705.
- (37) Hirouchi, T.; Nakajima, S.; Najrana, T.; Tanaka, M.; Matsunaga, T.; Hidema, J.; Teranishi, M.; Fujino, T.; Kumagai, T.; Yamamoto, K. *Mol. Genet. Genomics* **2003**, 269, 508.
- (38) Kimura, S.; Tahira, Y.; Ishibashi, T.; Mori, Y.; Mori, T.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. Nucleic Acids Res. **2004**, *32*, 2760.
- (39) Takahashi, S.; Nakajima, N.; Saji, H.; Kondo, N. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 2002, 43, 342.
- (40) Hidema, J.; Teranishi, M.; Iwamatsu, Y.; Hirouchi, T.; Ueda, T.; Sato, T.; Burr, B.; Sutherland, B. M.; Yamamoto, K.; Kumagai, T. *Plant J.* 2005, 43, 57.
- (41) Ueda, T.; Sato, T.; Hidema, J.; Hirouchi, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Kumagai, T.; Yano, M. *Genetics*, in press.
- (42) Ueda, T.; Sato, T.; Numa, H.; Yano, M. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **2004**, *108*, 385.
- (43) Hidema, J.; Kumagai, T.; Sutherland, B. M. *Plant Cell* **2000**, *12*, 1569.
- (44) Kunz, B. A.; Anderson, H. J.; Osmond, M. J.; Vonarx, E. J. Environ. Mol. Mutagen 2005, 45, 115.
- (45) Jiang, C. Z.; Yen, C. N.; Cronin, K.; Mitchell, D.; Britt, A. B. Genetics 1997, 147, 1401.
- (46) Liu, Z.; Hong, S. W.; Escobar, M.; Vierling, E.; Mitchell, D. L.; Mount, D. W.; Hall, J. D. *Plant Physiol.* **2003**, *132*, 1405.
- (47) Liu, Z.; Hall, J. D.; Mount, D. W. Plant J. 2001, 26, 329.
- (48) Liu, Z.; Hossain, G. S.; Islas-Osuna, M. A.; Mitchell, D. L.; Mount, D. W. Plant J. 2000, 21, 519.
- (49) Fidantsef, A. L.; Mitchell, D. L.; Britt, A. B. Plant Physiol. 2000, 124, 579.
- (50) Gallego, F.; Fleck, O.; Li, A.; Wyrzykowska, J.; Tinland, B. *Plant J.* 2000, 21, 507.
- (51) Koga, A.; Ishibashi, T.; Kimura, S.; Uchiyama, Y.; Sakaguchi, K. Submitted.
- (52) Hefner, E.; Preuss, S. B.; Britt, A. B. J. Exp. Bot. 2003, 54, 669.
- (53) Ribeiro, D. T.; Machado, C. R.; Costa, R. M.; Praekelt, U. M.; Van Sluys, M. A.; Menck, C. F. Gene **1998**, 208, 207.
- (54) Xu, H.; Swoboda, I.; Bhalla, P. L.; Sijbers, A. M.; Zhao, C.; Ong, E. K.; Hoeijmakers, J. H.; Singh, M. B. *Plant J.* **1998**, *13*, 823.
- (55) Sturm, A.; Lienhard, S. Plant J. 1998, 13, 815.
- (56) Schultz, T. F.; Quatrano, R. S. Plant Mol. Biol. 1997, 34, 557.
- (57) Costa, R. M.; Morgante, P. G.; Berra, C. M.; Nakabashi, M.; Bruneau, D.; Bouchez, D.; Sweder, K. S.; Van Sluys, M. A.; Menck, C. F. *Plant J.* **2001**, *28*, 385.
- (58) Li, A.; Schuermann, D.; Gallego, F.; Kovalchuk, I.; Tinland, B. *Plant Cell* **2002**, *14*, 263.
- (59) Dubest, S.; Gallego, M. E.; White, C. I. EMBO Rep. 2002, 3, 1049.
- (60) Dubest, S.; Gallego, M. E.; White, C. I. Plant J. 2004, 39, 334.
- (61) Ishibashi, T.; Kimura, S.; Yamamoto, T.; Furukawa, T.; Takata, K.; Uchiyama, Y.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. Gene 2003, 308, 79.
- (62) Kimura, S.; Suzuki, T.; Yanagawa, Y.; Yamamoto, T.; Nakagawa, H.; Tanaka, I.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. *Plant J.* 2001, 28, 643.
- (63) Kimura, S.; Ueda, T.; Hatanaka, M.; Takenouchi, M.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. Plant Mol. Biol. 2000, 42, 415.
- (64) Uchiyama, Y.; Hatanaka, M.; Kimura, S.; Ishibashi, T.; Ueda, T.; Sakakibara, Y.; Matsumoto, T.; Furukawa, T.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. *Gene* **2002**, *295*, 19.
- (65) Yanagawa, Y.; Sullivan, J. A.; Komatsu, S.; Gusmaroli, G.; Suzuki, G.; Yin, J.; Ishibashi, T.; Saijo, Y.; Rubio, V.; Kimura, S.; Wang, J.; Deng, X. W. *Genes Dev.* **2004**, *18*, 2172.
- (66) Schroeder, D. F.; Gahrtz, M.; Maxwell, B. B.; Cook, R. K.; Kan, J. M.; Alonso, J. M.; Ecker, J. R.; Chory, J. Curr. Biol. 2002, 12, 1462.
- (67) Wertz, I. E.; O'Rourke, K. M.; Zhang, Z.; Dornan, D.; Arnott, D.; Deshaies, R. J.; Dixit, V. M. Science 2004, 303, 1371.
- (68) Yanagawa, Y.; Kimura, S. Jpn. Agric. Res. Q. 2005, 39, 1.
- (69) Yanagawa, Y.; Feng, S.; Deng, X. W. J. Plant Res. 2005, Special Issue on Light Sensing in Plants, 253.
- (70) Serino, G.; Deng, X. W. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2003, 54, 165.
- (71) Tanaka, K.; Chiba, T. Genes Cells 1998, 3, 499.
- (72) Talpaert-Borle, M.; Liuzzi, M. Eur. J. Biochem. 1982, 124, 435.
- (73) Talpaert-Borle, M. Mutat. Res. 1987, 181, 45.

- (74) Santerre, A.; Britt, A. B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1994, 91, 2240.
- (75) Shi, L.; Kent, R.; Bence, N.; Britt, A. B. Mutat. Res. 1997, 384, 145.
- (76) Murphy, T. M.; George, A. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2005, 329, 869.
- (77) Dany, A. L.; Tissier, A. Mol. Genet. Genomics 2001, 265, 293.
- (78) Gao, M. J.; Murphy, T. M. Photochem. Photobiol. 2001, 73, 128.
- (79) Garcia-Ortiz, M. V.; Ariza, R. R.; Roldan-Arjona, T. Plant Mol. Biol. 2001, 47, 795.
- (80) Morales-Ruiz, T.; Birincioglu, M.; Jaruga, P.; Rodriguez, H.; Roldan-Arjona, T.; Dizdaroglu, M. *Biochemistry* 2003, 42, 3089.
- (81) Murphy, T. M.; Gao, M. J. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 2001, 61, 87.
- (82) Uchiyama, Y.; Kimura, S.; Yamamoto, T.; Ishibashi, T.; Sakaguchi, K. Eur. J. Biochem. 2004, 271, 2799.
- (83) Sarkar, S. N.; Bakshi, S.; Mokkapati, S. K.; Roy, S.; Sengupta, D. N. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2004, 320, 145.
- (84) Choi, Y.; Gehring, M.; Johnson, L.; Hannon, M.; Harada, J. J.; Goldberg, R. B.; Jacobsen, S. E.; Fischer, R. L. Cell 2002, 110, 33.
- (85) Choi, Y.; Harada, J. J.; Goldberg, R. B.; Fischer, R. L. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 7481.
- (86) Gong, Z.; Morales-Ruiz, T.; Ariza, R. R.; Roldan-Arjona, T.; David, L.; Zhu, J. K. Cell 2002, 111, 803.
- (87) Ade, J.; Haffani, Y.; Beizile, F. J. Genome 2001, 44, 651.
- (88) Culligan, K. M.; Hays, J. B. Plant Cell 2000, 12, 991.
- (89) Ade, J.; Belzile, F.; Philippe, H.; Doutriaux, M. P. Mol. Gen. Genet. 1999, 262, 239.
- (90) Culligan, K. M.; Hays, J. B. Plant Physiol. 1997, 115, 833
- (91) Horwath, M.; Kramer, W.; Kunze, R. Theor. Appl. Genet. 2002, 105, 423.
- (92) Jean, M.; Pelletier, J.; Hilpert, M.; Belzile, F.; Kunze, R. Mol. Gen. Genet. 1999, 262, 633.
- (93) Wu, S. Y.; Culligan, K.; Lamers, M.; Hays, J. Nucleic Acids Res. 2003, 31, 6027.
- (94) Leonard, J. M.; Bollmann, S. R.; Hays, J. B. Plant Physiol. 2003, 133, 328.
- (95) Hoffman, P. D.; Leonard, J. M.; Lindberg, G. E.; Bollmann, S. R.; Hays, J. B. *Genes Dev.* **2004**, *18*, 2676.
- (96) Bleuyard, J. Y.; Gallego, M. E.; White, C. I. DNA Repair, in press.
- (97) Puchta, H. J. Exp. Bot. 2005, 56, 1.
- (98) Paques, F.; Haber, J. E. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 1999, 63, 349.
- (99) Tsukamoto, Y.; Ikeda, H. Genes Cells 1998, 3, 135.
- (100) Yokota, Y.; Shikazono, N.; Tanaka, A.; Hase, Y.; Funayama, T.; Wada, S.; Inoue, M. *Radiat. Res.* **2005**, *163*, 520.
- (101) Schuermann, D.; Molinier, J.; Fritsch, O.; Hohn, B. Trends Genet. 2005, 21, 172.
- (102) West, C. E.; Waterworth, W. M.; Sunderland, P. A.; Bray, C. M. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2004, 32, 964.
- (103) Abe, K.; Osakabe, K.; Nakayama, S.; Endo, M.; Tagiri, A.; Todoriki, S.; Ichikawa, H.; Toki, S. *Plant Physiol.*, in press.
- (104) Bleuyard, J. Y.; Gallego, M. E.; Savigny, F.; White, C. I. Plant J. 2005, 41, 533.
- (105) Osakabe, K.; Abe, K.; Yamanouchi, H.; Takyuu, T.; Yoshioka, T.; Ito, Y.; Kato, T.; Tabata, S.; Kurei, S.; Yoshioka, Y.; Machida, Y.; Seki, M.; Kobayashi, M.; Shinozaki, K.; Ichikawa, H.; Toki, S. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **2005**, *57*, 819.
- (106) Li, W.; Chen, C.; Markmann-Mulisch, U.; Timofejeva, L.; Schmelzer, E.; Ma, H.; Reiss, B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 10596.
- (107) Osakabe, K.; Yoshioka, T.; Ichikawa, H.; Toki, S. Plant Mol. Biol. 2002, 50, 71.
- (108) Doutriaux, M. P.; Couteau, F.; Bergounioux, C.; White, C. Mol. Gen. Genet. 1998, 257, 283.
- (109) Daoudal-Cotterell, S.; Gallego, M. E.; White, C. I. FEBS Lett. 2002, 516, 164.
- (110) Gallego, M. E.; Jeanneau, M.; Granier, F.; Bouchez, D.; Bechtold, N.; White, C. I. *Plant J.* **2001**, *25*, 31.
- (111) Puizina, J.; Siroky, J.; Mokros, P.; Schweizer, D.; Riha, K. Plant Cell 2004, 16, 1968.
- (112) Ishibashi, T.; Isogai, M.; Kiyohara, H.; Hosaka, M.; Chiku, H.; Koga, A.; Yamamoto, T.; Uchiyama, Y.; Mori, Y.; Hashimoto, J.; Kimura, S.; Sakaguchi, K. DNA Repair, in press.
- (113) Friesner, J.; Britt, A. B. Plant J. 2003, 34, 427.
- (114) West, C. E.; Waterworth, W. M.; Story, G. W.; Sunderland, P. A.; Jiang, Q.; Bray, C. M. Plant J. 2002, 31, 517.
- (115) Tamura, K.; Adachi, Y.; Chiba, K.; Oguchi, K.; Takahashi, H. *Plant J.* **2002**, *29*, 771.
- (116) West, C. E.; Waterworth, W. M.; Jiang, Q.; Bray, C. M. *Plant J.* 2000, 24, 67.
- (117) Gallego, M. E.; Jalut, N.; White, C. I. Plant Cell 2003, 15, 782.
- (118) Britt, A. B.; May, G. D. Trends Plant Sci. 2003, 8, 90.
- (119) Pelczar, P.; Kalck, V.; Kovalchuk, I. J. Mol. Biol. 2003, 331, 771.
- (120) Gorbunova, V. V.; Levy, A. A. Trends Plant Sci. 1999, 4, 263.

- (121) Puchta, H. Genetics 1999, 152, 1173.
- (122) Puchta, H.; Dujon, B.; Hohn, B. Nucleic Acids Res. 1993, 21, 5034.
- (123) Fritsch, O.; Benvenuto, G.; Bowler, C.; Molinier, J.; Hohn, B. Mol. Cell 2004, 16, 479.
- (124) Orel, N.; Puchta, H. Plant Mol. Biol. 2003, 51, 523.
- (125) Boyko, A.; Filkowski, J.; Kovalchuk, I. Mutat. Res. 2005, 572, 73.
- (126) Molinier, J.; Ries, G.; Bonhoeffer, S.; Hohn, B. Plant Cell 2004, 16, 342.
- (127) Orel, N.; Kyryk, A.; Puchta, H. Plant J. 2003, 35, 604.
- (128) Siebert, R.; Puchta, H. Plant Cell 2002, 14, 1121.
- (129) Puchta, H.; Dujon, B.; Hohn, B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1996, 93, 5055.
- (130) Puchta, H.; Swoboda, P.; Gal, S.; Blot, M.; Hohn, B. Plant Mol. Biol. 1995, 28, 281.
- (131) Kirik, A.; Salomon, S.; Puchta, H. EMBO J. 2000, 19, 5562.
- (132) Salomon, S.; Puchta, H. EMBO J. 1998, 17, 6086.
- (133) Molinier, J.; Ramos, C.; Fritsch, O.; Hohn, B. Plant Cell 2004, 16, 1633.
- (134) Cotsaftis, O.; Guiderdoni, E. Transgenic Res. 2005, 14, 1.
- (135) Puchta, H.; Hohn, B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2005, 102, 11961.
- (136) Hohn, B.; Puchta, H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **1999**, 96, 8321.
- (137) Terada, R.; Urawa, H.; Inagaki, Y.; Tsugane, K.; Iida, S. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2002, 20, 1030.
- (138) Lloyd, A.; Plaisier, C. L.; Carroll, D.; Drews, G. N. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2005, 102, 2232.
- (139) Shaked, H.; Melamed-Bessudo, C.; Levy, A. A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2005, 102, 12265.
- (140) Li, H. Q.; Terada, R.; Li, M. R.; Iida, S. *FEBS Lett.* **2004**, *574*, 151. (141) Reiss, B.; Schubert, I.; Kopchen, K.; Wendeler, E.; Schell, J.; Puchta,
- H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2000, 97, 3358.
- (142) Shalev, G.; Sitrit, Y.; Avivi-Ragolski, N.; Lichtenstein, C.; Levy, A. A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96, 7398.
- (143) Reiss, B.; Klemm, M.; Kosak, H.; Schell, J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1996, 93, 3094.
- (144) Sakamoto, A.; Lan, V. T.; Hase, Y.; Shikazono, N.; Matsunaga, T.; Tanaka, A. Plant Cell 2003, 15, 2042.
- (145) Garcia-Ortiz, M. V.; Ariza, R. R.; Hoffman, P. D.; Hays, J. B.; Roldan-Arjona, T. *Plant J.* **2004**, *39*, 84.
- (146) Takahashi, S.; Sakamoto, A.; Sato, S.; Kato, T.; Tabata, S.; Tanaka, A. Plant Physiol. 2005, 138, 870.
- (147) Dronkert, M. L.; Kanaar, R. Mutat. Res. 2001, 486, 217.
- (148) McHugh, P. J.; Sones, W. R.; Hartley, J. A. Mol. Cell Biol. 2000, 20, 3425.
- (149) De Silva, I. U.; McHugh, P. J.; Clingen, P. H.; Hartley, J. A. Mol. Cell Biol. 2000, 20, 7980.
- (150) Jachymczyk, W. J.; von Borstel, R. C.; Mowat, M. R.; Hastings, P. J. Mol. Gen. Genet. 1981, 182, 196.
- (151) Ruhland, A.; Haase, E.; Siede, W.; Brendel, M. Mol. Gen. Genet. 1981, 181, 346.
- (152) Henriques, J. A.; Moustacchi, E. Genetics 1980, 95, 273.
- (153) Li, X.; Moses, R. E. DNA Repair 2003, 2, 121.
- (154) Callebaut, I.; Moshous, D.; Mornon, J. P.; de Villartay, J. P. Nucleic Acids Res. 2002, 30, 3592.
- (155) Li, X.; Hejna, J.; Moses, R. E. DNA Repair 2005, 4, 163.

- (156) Kimura, S.; Saotome, A.; Uchiyama, Y.; Mori, Y.; Tahira, Y.; Sakaguchi, K. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2005, 329, 668.
- (157) Molinier, J.; Stamm, M. E.; Hohn, B. EMBO Rep. 2004, 5, 994.
- (158) Moritoh, S.; Miki, D.; Akiyama, M.; Kawahara, M.; Izawa, T.; Maki, H.; Shimamoto, K. Plant Cell Physiol. 2005, 46, 699.
- (159) Furukawa, T.; Kimura, S.; Ishibashi, T.; Mori, Y.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. Plant Mol. Biol. 2003, 51, 59.
- (160) Kimura, S.; Kai, M.; Kobayashi, H.; Suzuki, A.; Morioka, H.; Otsuka, E.; Sakaguchi, K. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1997**, *25*, 4970.
- (161) Ishibashi, T.; Kimura, S.; Furukawa, T.; Sakaguchi, K. Jpn. Agric. Res. Q., in press.
- (162) Beam, C. E.; Saveson, C. J.; Lovett, S. T. J. Bacteriol. 2002, 184, 6836.
- (163) Song, Y.; Sargentini, N. J. J. Bacteriol. 1996, 178, 5045.
- (164) Kimura, S.; Uchiyama, Y.; Kasai, N.; Namekawa, S.; Saotome, A.; Ueda, T.; Ando, T.; Ishibashi, T.; Oshige, M.; Furukawa, T.; Yamamoto, T.; Hashimoto, J.; Sakaguchi, K. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2002, *30*, 1585.
- (165) Mori, Y.; Kimura, S.; Saotome, A.; Kasai, N.; Sakaguchi, N.; Uchiyama, Y.; Ishibashi, T.; Yamamoto, T.; Chiku, H.; Sakaguchi, K. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2005, 334, 43.
- (166) Iftode, C.; Daniely, Y.; Borowiec, J. A. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. **1999**, 34, 141.
- (167) Przykorska, A.; Solecka, K.; Olszak, K.; Keith, G.; Nawrot, B.; Kuligowska, E. *Biochemistry* 2004, 43, 11283.
- (168) Nie, Z.; Wu, M. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1999, 369, 174.
- (169) Tuteja, N.; Phan, T. N.; Tewari, K. K. Eur. J. Biochem. **1996**, 238, 54.
- (170) Chen, W.; Gaikwad, A.; Mukherjee, S. K.; Choudhary, N. R.; Kumar, D.; Tewari, K. K. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1996**, *24*, 3953.
- (171) Mukherjee, S. K.; Reddy, M. K.; Kumar, D.; Tewari, K. K. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 3793.
- (172) Nielsen, B. L.; Rajasekhar, V. K.; Tewari, K. K. Plant Mol. Biol. 1991, 16, 1019.
- (173) Wall, M. K.; Mitchenall, L. A.; Maxwell, A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004.
- (174) Cao, J.; Combs, C.; Jagendorf, A. T. Plant Cell Physiol. 1997, 38, 1319.
- (175) Khazi, F. R.; Edmondson, A. C.; Nielsen, B. L. Mol. Genet. Genomics 2003, 269, 454.
- (176) Tuteja, N. J. Exp. Bot. 2003, 54, 2201.
- (177) Elo, A.; Lyznik, A.; Gonzalez, D. O.; Kachman, S. D.; Mackenzie, S. A. Plant Cell **2003**, 15, 1619.
- (178) Sugimoto-Shirasu, K.; Roberts, K. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 2003, 6, 544.
- (179) Larkins, B. A.; Dilkes, B. P.; Dante, R. A.; Coelho, C. M.; Woo, Y. M.; Liu, Y. J. Exp. Bot. 2001, 52, 183.
- (180) Joubes, J.; Chevalier, C. Plant Mol. Biol. 2000, 43, 735.
- (181) Paul, N. D. Environ. Pollut. 2000, 108, 343.
- (182) Tanaka, A.; Sakamoto, A.; Ishigaki, Y.; Nikaido, O.; Sun, G.; Hase, Y.; Shikazono, N.; Tano, S.; Watanabe, H. *Plant Physiol.* **2002**, *129*, 64.

CR040482N